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Goals 

1. Excellence in Academic Quality. 

2. Nation of Knowledge. Excellence in Research, 

Innovation and Dissemination 

 

3. Excellence in Addressing Social and Industrial 

Expectations. 

 

4. Excellence in Infrastructure and Human Resource 

Development. 

 

5. Excellence in National and International 

Collaboration. 

 

6. Excellence in Good Governance and Sustainabilty.  
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Vice Chancellor’s Message                                                        

    Prof. A. Rameez 

The profile and overall achievements of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

based on the achievements of students, academic staff and non-academic staff 

members are included in the Annual Report 2022. The report highlights the social, 

cultural, regional and national contributions of the university on par with strategic 

plan of the university from 2019 to 2024. Furthermore, it focuses on the challenges 

and shortcomings encountered by the university with reasonable justifications. 

The university has been successful in implementing the policies of the government in 

terms of higher education despite the fact that we presently encounter enormous 

challenges in the sphere of finance. With the support of Treasury and AHEAD 

funding, the performance and quality of services provided for students have been 

noteworthy. Moreover, the academics of the university have made an increasing 

number of publications of their research works in well-reputed indexed journals. 

Moreover, the human capital of the university was strengthened with an addition of 

well-qualified academics and other professionals. Simultaneously, the promotion of a 

few academics as Professors has enhanced the quality and quantity of human capital 

of the university. 

Thus, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all those who worked hard to 

elevate the performance of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka and contributed 

to the Annual Report for the year 2022. 

 

Professor Dr. A. Rameez, PhD (NUS)  

Vice-Chancellor 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka  
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University Governance          

I. University Council 

The University Council is the Chief Executive Body and governing authority. 

The Council of the university constituted in terms of Section 44 of the 

Universities Act No. 16 of 1978 as amended by Section 24 of the Universities 

(Amendment) Act No. 07 of 1985, consisted of the following members during 

the year 2022. The Registrar is the Secretary of the Council. 

 

Ex-Officio Members 

 
 
 
 
 

Name  Designation 

Prof. Dr. A. Rameez Vice-Chancellor (Chairman)  

Dr. SM. Junaideen 

 
Dean/ Faculty of Engineering (Up to 18.08.2022) 

Prof. MAL. Abdul 

Haleem      

Dean/ Faculty of Engineering (From 18.08.2022)          

Prof. Dr. SMM. Mazahir Dean /Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic 

Language 

Dr. (Mrs.) S. Safeena MG 

Hassan 

Dean / Faculty of Management and Commerce  
 

 

Dr. UL. Zainudeen 

 

Dean / Faculty of Applied Sciences (Up to 

03.08.2022) 

Dr.MH.Haroon   Dean / Faculty of Applied Sciences (From 

03.08.2022) 

Prof. Dr. MM. Fazil Dean/ Faculty of Arts and Culture  

Dr. ULA. Majeed   Dean / Faculty of Technology  

Dr. MH. Haroon  Senate Representative (up to 24.05.2022) 

Prof. (Mrs.) FHA. Rauf  Senate Representative 

Prof. AM.Razmy  Senate Representative (from 24.05.2022) 
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 Secretary 

 Mr. H. Abdul Saththar, Registrar 

 

 

 

 

 

 

UGC Appointed Members 

Mr. IM. Haniffa Additional Director General Rubber 

Development Department  

Dr. Anver M. Mustapha- Chairman/Eastern Province Chamber of 

Information and Communication   Technology 

Eng. Muheenudeen 

Abdul Cader 

Engineer/Managing Director Beta International 

Colombo 

Dr. TSRTR. Rajab Medical Superintendent, Base Hospital, Pottuvil 

Eng. NT. Mohamed 

Sirajudeen 

Rtd. Chief Engineer/Road Development 

Authority, Ampara  

Mr. MC. Mohamed 

Nawas 

Attorney-at-Law 

Prof. Colin N. Peiris Director/Academic Development & QA, SLIIT 

Mr. JM. Naleer Accountant, Divisional Secretariat, Mutur 

Mr. DML. 

Bandaranayake 

Secretary, Ministry of Agriculture 

Prof. (Ms) Hema MKK 

Pathirana 

Rtd. Professor Department of Chemistry 

University of Ruhuna 
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II. University Senate 

The Senate, constituted in terms of section 46 of the Universities Act. No. 16 of 

1978 as amended by the Act. No. 7 of 1985 consisted of the following 

members during the year 2022. 

 

Ex-Officio Members 

Prof. Dr. A. Rameez Vice Chancellor (Chairman)  

Dr. SM. Junaideen Dean/FE (up to 18.08.2022) 

Dr. MAL. Abdul Haleem      Dean/FE (up to 18.08.2022) 

Prof. Dr. SMM. Mazahir Dean /FIA 

Dr. (Mrs.) S. Safeena MG 
Hassan 

Dean /FMC (from 30.06.2021) 

Dr. UL. Zainudeen Dean /FAS (up to 03.08.2022) 

Dr.MH.Haroon Dean / Faculty of Applied Sciences (from 

03.08.2022) 

Prof. Dr. MM. Fazil Dean/FAC 

Dr. ULA. Majeed   Dean /FT  
 

Prof. Dr. MAM. Rameez  

Prof. Dr. (Mrs). FHA. Rauf  

Prof. Dr.ALA. Rauf  

Prof. Dr. Aboobacker Jahufer             Head / Mathematical Science  

Prof. Dr.AM. Muzathik   

Prof. Dr.MBM. Ismail Head / Dept. of Marketing Management 

Prof. Dr.Athambawa Jahfer  

Prof.  Dr. ALM.Riyal                               - Head / Dept. of Social Sciences  
(from 06.06.2022) 

Prof. Dr. AMM. Mustafa  Head / Dept. of Management 

Prof. Dr. AM. Razmy   

Prof.Dr. MIM. Hilal Head/Department of Marketing 

Management  

Prof. Dr. S. Gunapalan   

Prof. Dr. KM. Mubarak  

Prof. Dr.MIM. Kaleel  

Prof. S. Sabraz Nawaz Head/Department of Management & 

Information Technology 
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Prof. Dr.ILM.Mahir  

Prof. Dr.K.Kanesarajah  

Prof.Dr.SM.Ayoob                           Head / Dept. of Sociology  
(from 12.07.2022) 

Prof. MAM. Fowsar Department of Political Sciences  

Prof.Dr.HMM.Naleer                          Head/Dept. of Computer Science 

Prof.Dr.(Mrs)MIS.Safeena   

Prof.Dr.AFM.Ashraff  

Prof.Dr.(Mrs)MASF.Saadiya              Head /Dept. of Languages 

Prof.Dr.MH.Thowfeek  
  

Mr. MM. Rifaudeen  Librarian 

  

Dr. A. Haleem Head /Dept. of Accountancy & Finance  

Prof.MAL.Abdul Haleem Head /Dept. of Inter Disciplinary Studies 

Eng. MI. Ilham Jazeel Head /Dept. of Inter Disciplinary Studies 
(up to18.08.2022) 

Dr.AM.Aslam Saja  
 

Head /Dept. of Inter Disciplinary Studies 
(from 18.08.2022) 

Dr. AMM. Navaz Head /Dept. of English Language 

Teaching 

Dr. MH. Haroon Head /Dept. of Chemical Sciences  
(up to 03.08.2022) 

Dr.MNM.Farhath  Head /Dept. of Chemical Sciences  
(from 03.08.2022)  

Dr. AAM. Nufile  Head /Dept. of Economics and Statistics 
(up to 06.05.2022) 

Mr.S.Santhirakumar  
 

Head /Dept. of Economics and Statistics 
(from 06.05.2022)  

Dr. S. Anuzsiya  Head/Dept. of Social Sciences  

Dr. (Mrs) V. Sujarajini  Head /Dept. of Biological Science 

Mr.AM.Riyas Ahamed  Head /Dept. of Biological Sciences  
(from 07.01.2022) 

Mr. MHM. Rinos  Head /Dept. of Geography 

Mr.K.Nijamir  Head /Dept. of Geography (from 12.07.2022) 

Mr. AL. Hanees  Head /Dept. of Mathematical Science 

Mr.MAAM.Faham  Head / Mathematical Science  
(from 16.08.2022)  

Dr. PMK. Alahakoon  Head / Dept. of Electrical & 

Telecommunication Eng. 
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Dr. (Mrs). AMNM. Adikaram  Head /Dept. of Physical Sciences 

Dr.MJM.Jafeen  Head /Dept. of Physical Sciences  
(from 25.08.2022)  

Dr. WGCW. Kumara  Head /Dept. of Computer Science and 

Engineering  

Dr.MN.Ajmal Hinas  Head /Dept. of Computer Science and 

Engineering (from 21.08.2022)  

Dr. U. Farook  Head /Dept. of Mechanical Engineering  

Prof. Dr. AM. Muzathik Head/Dept. of Mechanical Engineering 

Eng.P.Balthazar  
 

Head /Dept. of Mechanical Engineering  
(from 01.10.2022)  

Mr. K. Muhammed Rifthy 

 

Head /Dept. of Information and 

Communication Technology 

Eng. MC. Riyas Head /Dept. of Civil Engineering 

 

Mrs. MCS. Shathifa Head /Dept. of Arabic Language  

Dr.ANM.Mubarak Head /Dept. of Biosystems Technology  

(up to 20.02.2022) 

Dr. MM. Muneeb Head /Dept. of Biosystems Technology  
(from 20.02.2022)  

Dr. RA. Sarjoon Head /Dept. of Islamic Studies 

Mr. CMM. Mansoor Head /Dept. of Information Technology 
(up to 28.03.2022) 

Mrs.MS.Fathima Fayaza  Head /Dept. of Information Technology / 

FAC (from 28.03.2022)  

Elected members 
 

Faculty of Applies Sciences 

Mr. MAAM. Faham  (up to 17.08.2022) 

Mr. AM. Riyas Ahamed  (up to07.01.2022) 

Dr.UL.Zainudeen  (from 18.08.2022) 

Dr.MAC.Akmal Jahan  (from  18.08.2022) 

  

Faculty of Arts and Culture 

Mr. A. Wickramaratne           

Mr. MAM. Sameem                

  

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

Dr.AR.Nasar            (up to 07.07.2022) 



 

11 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

Dr. SMM. Nafees    (up to 07.07.2022) 

Dr.HMA.Hilmy  (from 07.07.2022) 
  

Faculty of Management and Commerce 

Dr. MH. Thowfeek  (up to 21.06.2022) 

Dr. I. Raisal  (from 13.12.2022) 

Mrs.SM.Murshitha  (from 21.06.2022) 

  

Faculty of Engineering    

Eng. ALM. Risath  (up to 09.09.2022) 

Dr. JASP. Jayakody (up to 09.09.2022) 

Dr. SM. Junaideen (from 09.09.2022) 

Eng. MH. Fayas Ahamed  (from 09.09.2022) 

  

Faculty of Technology  

Mr. RKA. Rifai Kariapper   

Dr. ADNT. Kumara   

 

Secretary 

Mr. H. Abdul Saththar, Registrar 
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1. Review of University Activities       

1.1 Brief introduction  

The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) was established in 1995. 

The main campus, which is strategically located along the coastal belt of 

Oluvil, extends over 178.98 acres of green pasture (As per the land valuation 

in 2011). Due to the continuous sea erosion that exists in the east part of the 

university (Oluvil premises), around 25.45 acres of land has been devasted so 

far. The Faculty of Applied Sciences is located in Sammanthurai in an extent 

of 6.72 acres (As per the land valuation in 2011).  The Malwaththa farm 

(extent of 35.25 acres), which comes under the purview of the Faculty of 

Technology, is used for conducting practical classes on Agricultural 

Technology. The university has made outstanding advancements in the field 

of higher education.  

The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka is dedicated to academic excellence 

and the development of employable graduates who can satisfy the needs of 

the public and private sectors in Sri Lanka and abroad. It seeks to encourage a 

culture of multidisciplinary research that meets the demands of a range of 

stakeholders, including the local community. Also, the university significantly 

contributes to regional cooperation and tranquility. There are now 531 

postgraduate students and 7,185 internal undergraduate students enrolled in 

SEUSL's six faculties. There are 674 permanent employees at the university, 

including 223 academics. 

With its outstanding academic standards, The SEUSL is committed to become 

recognized as a globally renowned institution. 
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1.2 Study Programmes at SEUSL    

SEUSL has six Faculties namely Arts and Culture, Management and 

Commerce, Applied Sciences, Islamic Studies and Arabic Language, 

Engineering and Technology. SEUSL offers Bachelor‟s and Postgraduate 

Degrees, Diploma, Certificate, and different Training Programmes. 

The university collaborates with local and international organizations in 

conducting programmes to meet the needs of the local community. The 

Academic departments, Units and degree Programmes offered by the 

faculties are shown in the tables below. 

 
Table 1.1: Details of Academic Departments and Units of the SEUSL 
 
 

Faculty of Arts & Culture 

Social Sciences 

Languages 

Political Sciences 

Sociology 

Economics & Statistics 

Geography 

English Language Teaching 

Information & Technology 

Faculty of Management & Commerce 

Accountancy & Finance 

Management 

Management Information Technology 

Marketing Management 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Biological Sciences 

Mathematical Sciences 

Physical Sciences 

Computer Sciences 

Chemical Science 

Faculty of  Islamic Studies and 
Arabic Language 

Islamic Studies 

Arabic Language 

Inter Disciplinary Unit 

Faculty of  Engineering 

Civil Engineering 

Mechanical  Engineering 

Electrical & Telecommunication 
Engineering 

Computer Science &  Engineering 

Interdisciplinary Studies 

Faculty of  Technology 

Information and Communication 
Technology 

BioSystems Technology  
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Table 1.2: Degree Programmes offered by Faculties (Internal) 

Undergraduate Degree Programmes 
SLQF 
Level 

General/ 
Special 

Duratio
n 

Medium 

Faculty of Arts & Culture 

Bachelor of Arts (General) 5 General 3 Years Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Political 
science 

6 Special 

4 Years 

Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Economics 

6 Special 
Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Philosophy & Psychological 
Counseling 

6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Sociology   

6 Special 
Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Geography 

6 Special 
Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours  in Tamil   6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Information Communication 
Technology 

6 Special 

English 
Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Teaching English as a Second 
Language                                                         

6 Special 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Hindu 
Civilization 

6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Tri-
Lingual Studies 

6 Special Trilingual 

Faculty of Management   & Commerce 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
(Honours)Degree 

6 Special 
4 Years 

Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Commerce 
(Honours)Degree 

6 Special 

English 
 

Bachelor of Science in Management 
and  Information Technology 

5 General 3 Years 

Bachleor of Business Administration 
Honours in Accounting 

6 Special 

4 Years 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
Honours in Finance 

6 Special 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
Honours in Marketing Management 

6 Special 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
Honours  in Human Resource 
Management 

6 Special 

Bachelor of Business Administration  
Honours  in Information Systems 

6 Special 
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Undergraduate Degree 
Programmes 

SLQF 
Level 

General/ 
Special 

Duration Medium 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Bachelor of Science  5 General 3 Years 

English 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Applied Biology 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours  in 
Botany 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Applied Statistics 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Computer Science 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Chemistry 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Physics 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Mathematics 

6 Special 
4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Applied Sciences 

6 Special 4 Years 

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

Bachelor of Arts Degree 5 General 3 Years Tamil 

Bachlor of Arts (Hons.) in Islamic 
Thoughts and Civilization  

6 Special 

4 Years 

Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in Islamic 
Banking and Finance 

6 Special English 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.)in Islamic 
Law & Legislation 

6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in Arabic 
Language and Literature 

6 Special 
Arabic & 

Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in 
Linguistics and Translation  

6 Special 
Arabic, 
English 
& Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in 
Teaching English as a Second 
Language (Collaborative 
Programme with Faculty of Arts 
and Culture) 

6 Special English 

Faculty of  Engineering 

Bachelor of the Science 
Engineering Honours (Civil 
Engineering) 

7 Special 4 Years English 
Bachelor of the Science of 
Engineering Honours (Electrical & 
Telecommunication Engineering) 

Bachelor of the Science of 
Engineering Honours (Mechanical 



 

17 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

Engineering) 

Faculty of Technology 

Bachelor of  Biosystems 
Technology  

6 Special 
4 Years 

English 

Bachelor of  Information and 
Communication Technology  

6 Special English 
 
 

 

Table 1.3: Certificate level and Diploma Courses (External) 

Certificate Level Courses  

Name of the Course                                                  
SLQF 
Level 

Duration  Medium 

Certificate in English - 06 Months English 

Short Course in Human Rights - 03 months Tamil 

Short Course in Sinhala - 03 months Sinhala 

Diploma Courses (Non Postgraduate ) 

Name of the Course                                                  
SLQF 
Level 

Duration  Medium 

Professional Diploma in Counselling 3 18 Months Tamil 

Diploma in English 1 1 Year English 

Diploma in Journalism 3 1 Year Tamil 

Diploma in Sinhala 3 1 Year Sinhala 
 

Table 1.4: Undergraduate Courses (External) 

Undergraduate Courses (External) 

Name of the Course  
SLQF 
Level 

Special/
General  

Duration  Medium 

Faculty of Arts and Culture 

Bachelor of Arts  5 General 3 Years Tamil 

Faculty of Management and Commerce 

Bachelor of Business 
Administration 

5 General 3 Years 
Tamil 

Bachelor of Commerce 5 General 3 Years 

 

1.3 Postgraduate Studies   

The Faculty of Arts and Culture, Faculty of Management and 

Commerce, Faculty of Applied Sciences Faculty of Islamic Studies and 

Arabic Language and Faculty of Technology offer postgraduate 

programmes (Table 1.5). The university has produced 04 Mphil, (Mphil 

in Tamil) and 01 MA (MA in Tamil) holders in the year 2022.  
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Table 1.5: Postgraduate Courses 

Faculty 
Postgraduate 
Programmes 

SLQF 
Level 

Full/ Part 
time 

Duration Medium 

Faculty of arts and Culture 

Pg Dip. in Tamil 8  Part 01 Year 
Tamil 

 
M.A. in Tamil 10 Part 02 Years 

M.Phil. in Tamil 11 Part/Full 
Part time  

(36 months) 
 

Full time  
(24 months) 

M.Phil.in Geography 11 Part/Full 

Tamil/English 
M.Phil. in Philosophy 11 Part/Full 

M.Phil. in Poltical Science 11 Part/Full 

M.Phil. in Sociology 11 Part/Full 

M.Phil.in Economics 11 Part/Full Tamil/English 

Ph.D. in Tamil 12 Part/Full 
Part time 

 (54 months) 
 

Full time  
(36 months) 

Tamil 

Ph.D. in Geography 12 Part/Full 

Tamil/English 
Ph.D. in Philosophy 12 Part/Full 

Ph.D. in Poltical Science 12 Part/Full 

Ph.D. in Sociology 12 Part/Full 

Ph.D. in Economics 12 Part/Full Tamil/English 

Faculty of Management and Commerce 

Pg Dip.in Management 
(PGDM) 

8 Full 01 Year 

English 
Master of Business 
Administration (MBA) 

10 Full 02 Years 

MPhil in Management and 
Commerce 
Specialized in:  
 

Business Studies 
Human Resource 

Management 
Marketing Management 

Finance 
Accounting 

Information System 

11 Part/Full 

Part time  
(36 months) 

 
Full time  

(24 months) 

English 

Doctor of Philoshophy 
Specialized in : 
 

Business Studies 
Human Resource 

Management 
Marketing Management 

Finance 
Accounting 

Information System 

12 Part/Full 

Part time 
 (54 months) 

 
Full time  

(36 months) 

English 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Pg Dip.in Applied Statistics  8 Part 01 Year 

English 

MPhil in Physics and Earth 
Science 

11 
 

Full Time 
Part Time 

24 months  
36 months 

MPhil in Computer Science 

MPhil in Botany and Zoology 

MPhil in Chemistry 

MPhil in Mathematics and 
Applied Statistics 

PhD in Physics and Earth 
Science 

12 
Full Time 
Part Time 

36 months  
54 months Ph.D. in Computer Science 

Ph.D. in Botany and Zoology 
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1.4 World Ranking  

The Webometrics ranking of South Eastern University of Sri Lanka has 

progressed to 7908 in January 2023.(The webometrics ranking was 7941 

in January 2022) Measures are being taken to improve the world ranking 

of SEUSL in the competitive world where educational institutions are 

striving hard to offer better services.   

 

1.5 Student Population  

The student population of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka as 

at December 2022 was 7185. Table 1.6 shows the proportional 

distribution of the students among each faculty. 

 

Table 1.6: Student population by Faculty as at December 2022 

Faculty 
No. of 

Students 
Percentage 

(%) 

Arts and Culture 1299 18.08 

Management and Commerece 1868 26.00 

Applied Sciences 1024 14.25 

Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 1746 24.30 

Engineering 400 5.57 

Technology 848 11.80 

Figure 1.1 shows the student population by faculty and by year. 

     

PhD in Chemistry 
 

   
PhD in Mathematics and 
Applied Statistics 

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

MPhil in Islamic Studies by 
Research 

11 Full 24 months Tamil 

PhD in Islamic Studies by 
Research 

12 Full 36 months Tamil 

Faculty of Technology     

MPhil in Biosystems 
Technology (research degree 
programme) 

11 Full / Part 
3 years 
2 years 

English 

PhD  in Biosystems 
Technology (research degree 
programme) 

12 Full / Part 3 years English 
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Figure 1.1: Students Population 

 
 
 

1.6 Staff Population 

The staff population (Permanent staff) of the university as of December 

2022 was 674. Figure 1.2 shows the proportional distribution of the staff 

by category.  

 

Figure1.2: Proportion of Staff Strength (Permanent staff) as of December 2022 
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Non-Academic 
and Non-

Administrative 
Staff, 400, 
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1.7 Distribution of Academic Staff 

Figures 1.3 and 1.4 show the distribution of academic Staff (excluding 

library staff) based on their designation and educational level 

respectively. 

 

Figure 1.3: Distribution of Academic Staff (excluding library staff) based on their  
Designation as of 31st December 2022 

 
 

Figure 1.4: Distribution of Academic Staff (Excluding Library staff) based on their 
Educational level as of 31st December 2022 
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1.8 Libraries of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka  

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) Libraries is a network of 

libraries and Museums that includes the Main Library, Faculty of 

Applied Science Library, and University Cultural Museum. The SEUSL 

Library works strategically and refers to international best practices for 

quality assurance. The Library‟s main achievements in 2022 were: 

 

i) Digitalization program: - Manages the digitalization program and 

archives the intellectual capital of SEUSL in institutional repository 

(DSpace) that facilitates scholarly dissemination and showcases the 

entire breadth of the institution‟s scholarship and improves 

webometrics ranking of the university 

 
ii) Strengthen collaboration: Strengthen engagement with faculties and 

students and promote greater involvement of library academics in 

research by conducting many Research Capacity Building 

programme, plagiarism detection services, literature search and 

document delivery services. 

 

iii) Outreach Community program :  

 Launched - South Eastern Regional Library & Information Network 

(SERLIN), Sri Lanka.  

 

 SERLIN Library Network”, was officially launched by the Vice 

Chancellor as one of the community outreach initiatives with the 

presence of member institutions of SERLIN on founder's Day, held on 

October 25th, 2022. South Eastern University Libraries has also 

launched a Book Donation Program to assist SERLIN member 

libraries in enriching their collections to promote reading. 

 SERLIN Member Libraries in the South Eastern Region received 2399 

books through a program that a librarian initiated in collaboration 

with YM Trust Australia. 
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 Many outreach programs were carried out by the librarian, such as 

supporting the staff visits to libraries like Pottuvil Pradeshiya Sabha 

and Nadwatul Ulama Arabic College. 

 
iv) Outreach Community program in Collaboration with RDHS: 

 The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka, in collaboration with the 

RDHS, Kalmunai, has developed a novel program to educate 

undergraduates, staff, and the community in public health through a 

series of health talks and discussions, based on a recent agreement 

between the Vice Chancellor Prof. A. Rameez and Director of the 

RDHS, Kalmunai, Dr. Rifas. 

 

 The first Lecture of the “Better Health Lecture Series” was conducted 

by Dr. M. J. Nowfel, attached to Regional Mental Health Unit, RDHS- 

Kalmunai entitled “Stress-Free Future” in Tamil Medium on 16th 

March 2022, immediately following the inauguration programme at 

the Seminar Room, SEUSL Library. 

 
v) Institutional Repository Improvement: Manages the digitization 

program and archives the intellectual capital of SEUSL in  

institutional repository (DSpace) that facilitates scholarly 

dissemination and showcases the entire breadth of the institution‟s 

scholarship and improves the webometrics ranking of the university. 

Our E repository had 5733 scholarly articles archived as of 31st 

December 2022 and out of it 826 were uploaded during 2022. There 

were 67,123 views for the scholarly articles including from foreign 

countries. 

 
vi) Consultancy: Consultancy advice and editorial assistance provided 

to the University for publishing the Faculty Journals, Proceedings, 

and university publications. 

 



 

24 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

vii) Teaching and assessing:  
 
a. All academics of SEUSL Libraries took part in delivering Lectures 

and Assessing optional credit courses on “Information Literacy 

programs” to the undergraduates. 

b. Conducted Lecturers on AEE 31012-Research Methods to the 3rd 

year students of Bachelor of BioSystems Technology, Faculty of 

Technology of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

c. Conducted lectures for the “Diploma in Library and Information 

Services” conducted by the Centre for Distance & Continuing 

Education, University of Peradeniya. 

 
viii) Off the campus Library services: Worked collegially and 

constructively with key university stakeholders including students to 

deliver Library services off the campus to enable our patrons to access 

our library learning resources remotely. 

 
ix) Newly acquired materials: Library has purchased only 335 printed 

books and 75 eBooks to the value of Rs. 3,123,983.66 during 2022, to 

meet the needs of the users of all faculties.  

 
x) Donation of Books & Periodicals: SEUSL Libraries have received 835 

Books and 71 Periodicals to the value of Rs.365,263.90 as gifts and 

donation in the year 2022. 

 
xi)  Patrons & New Enrolment: There were 4,338 registered users 

reported as of 31st December 2022 and out of them 2,114 new users 

were enrolled as library members during the year under review. 

 
xii) Circulation: Circulation was significantly affected by the pandemic 

situation. Libraries had 14,809 check-ins and 14,056 check-outs (a 

combined total of Check-in & check-out: 28865) as recorded in the 



 

25 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

Library Management System. Collaborative common learning spaces 

with Wifi facilities are provided. 

 

xiii) Fines: Rs. 25,035.00 was collected as overdue fines from the students 

of the Main Library and Rs.1,145.00 from the Science Library during 

the year 2022. 

 
xiv) Online Similarity Detection Tool 

University Library has renewed it‟s subscription to the “Turnitin© 

Feedback Studio”, an online similarity detection tool to helps 

faculties to demonstrate academic integrity in their research for the 

year 2022. Throughout the year 2022, numerous training programs 

were held to promote the use of Turnitin. 

 
 

1.9 Achievements and Recognitions:  

 The Proposal to commence a new degree program in “BA Honours 

in History” was submitted for the approval of the Commission. 

 

 A proposal was submitted and approval of the Commission was 

obtained to conduct a Bachelor of Arts External degree program 

through CEDPL. 

 

 SER was submitted for Programme Review (Bachelor of Arts 

External degree program) of the CEDPL. 

 

 Enrolled the new batch of students for the academic year 2020/2021 

and academic programs were successfully conducted. 

 

 University could expand the new student intake by enhancing access 

to higher education on par with the national policy (Figure 1.4). 
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Figure 1.4: Student intake for the last twenty-six years 

 

 MPhil/Ph.D research programmes in the field of Tamil/Geography/ 

Philosophy/Political Science/Sociology were commenced. 

 
 Hostel facilities have been substantially developed and all the 

eligible students are provided with accommodation.  

 
Figure 1.5: Hostel Occupations: 2015 - 2022 
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 The university was able to conduct six international and local 

research conferences. 

 

 During the year 2022, the university as a whole was able to publish 

111 research articles in indexed and refereed journals nationally and 

internationally.  

 

 The total number of publications during the year 2022 was 300.  

 

 The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka introduced awards of 

honour termed “Senate Honours for High Impact Publications” in 

2019 in order to encourage the staff members to carry out high-

quality research and disseminate their research findings through 

publication of those in high-quality journals. Details of Senate 

honours awarded in 2022 are given in table 1.9.  The tables 1.10 and 

1.11 show the details of journal issues published by the university 

and annual research symposia conducted during the year 2022 

respectively. 

 

Table 1.7: Senate honors awarded for the year 2022 

Faculty 
No. of Senate Honours for high impact publications in 2022 

218th Senate 
(16.06.2022) 

220th Senate 
(16.03.2022) 

221st Senate 
(17.08.2022) 

223th Senate 
(19.08.2022) 

FAC - 3 1 1 

FMC 10 1 - - 

FAS 2 1 - 4 

FIA 4 1 1 5 

FE 2 - 2 - 

FT 14 15 2 3 

Libraray - 1 - - 

Total 32 22 6 13 

 

 

Table 1.8: Journal issues published in 2022 by the university 

Faculty Journal Issues 

FAC 

KALAM Journal -Volume XV, Issue (01& 02), 2022 were 
published via online. 

KALAM Journal -Volume XIV, Issues (01 & 02), 2021 were 
published via online 

KALAM Journal -Volume XI, Issues (01 & 02), 2017 were 
published 
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KALAM Journal -Volume XII, Issues (01 & 02), 2021 were 
published via online 

FMC 

Journal of Marketing  Vol. VII, Issue I and II 

Journal of Business Economics  Vol. 4 Issue II 

The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka journal of Human 
Resource Management Vol. I Issue I 

Journal of Management and Economics Vol. I Issue I 

Compilation of Abstracts of Undergraduate Dissertations, 
Department of Management – 2022 (BBA, HRM & IS)
 

CAUDDM-2022 Vol. II 

FAS Journal of Science Volume: 03 No: 01 

FT 
SLJoT – Regular Issues – 02 (June / December) 

Special Issues – 01 (October) 

FIA 

Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies Vol. 5, Issue. 1; 
2022 

Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies Vol. 5, Issue. 2; 
2022 

Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies Vol. 5, (Special 
Issue I); 2022 

 
Annual research symposia are being conducted continuously.  

 

Table 1.9: Annual research symposia and conferences conducted by the university 

Conference/ Symposium conducted in 2022 Conducted By 

10th International Symposium of the FAC (SEUARS 2021)  
FAC 

11th International Symposium of the FAC (SEUARS 2022)  

Annual Science Research Session - 2022 FAS 

9th International Symposium 
FIA 

10th Undergraduate Research Colloquium 

2nd International Conference on Science and 

Technology (ICST) 
FT 

 

 

Students Achievements 

 R.M., Tanseem, a second-year student of the Faculty of Arts and 

Culture, participated in the university-level Oratory Competition 

and obtain the third place. 

 

 M.I.Fathima Riskiya, a first year student of the Faculty of Arts 

and Culture, participated in a workshop titled on "National 

Workshop on Flood Management and Flood Control Measures”, 
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Organized By "The Center for Water Resources Management 

(Cwrm) In India”, University of Maddras.  

 

 RM. Thanzeem, of Faculty of Arts and Culture participated in 

Divisional Literature competition at the Divisional Secretariat of 

Karaitivu and won 3rd place in open level short story competition.  

 

 Fatima Madheera, a second-year student of FAC, published a 

book titled " fha;e;j rUFfs; " and published by "Ahara  Muthala 

Peravai" publishing house India. 

 

 Rasni Rahmathullah, participated in journalist training such as an 

association of independent media and "Thinamathi" Thalam news 

media. He has been selected as a journalist and coordinator of 

Addalachennai. 

 

 Shafiya Natheem is a final-year student of FAC.  On January 2022, 

she was the leading contributor of Sri Lanka to the Open Street 

Map” (OSM) community, was selected for the SLSI (SHE LEADS 

SHE INSPIRES) Leadership program conducted by Asia - Pacific 

Region OSM community. She participated mapping competition 

every month since January and was selected as the best mapper 

of March and got 6th place in Asia pacific region.  

 

Staff Achievemnets 

 

 Ms. H.F. Firdawsiya, Lecturer (Probationary) in History attached 

to the Department of Social Sciences of the FAC was awarded for 

the “Best Translated Academic and Research Work” at the State 

Literary Award Ceremony 2022. The award was presented for her 

book   (“Ilam Piraiym Idaitharasum: A Study of Sri Lankan-Arabian 

Relations”) translated from Sinhala to Tamil. 
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 Prof. MAM.Rameez, Department of Languages delivered ‘Lady 

Leelawathy Ramanathan Memorial Lecture – 2022’ at the University of 

Jaffna. 

 A departmental Journal on the Sri Lanka Journal of Political 

Science submitted by the Department of Political Science/FAC 

was commenced with the approval of the Senate.  

 

 Established the Student's Activity Club as a focal point in the 

facilitation of community programmes, internship training, 

faculty-level GEE activities and all student-centered activities at 

the FAC. 

 

 The Self Evaluation Report (SER) for the Bachelor of Arts 

(External) Degree programme at CEDPL prepared by the 

instructions specified in the manual for Quality Assurance of the 

External degree programme and Extension courses, was 

resubmitted for the review process and the SER and the relevant 

supporting documents were uploaded on the online platform of 

the Quality Assurance Council of the UGC. 

 

 Enriching Bachelor of Arts (External) Degree Programme, course 

manuals and curricula of the programme were prepared.  

 

 Revised the existing curricula for General English subjects and 

the TESL degree programme at FAC.  

 

 Fixed state-of-the-art technologies and infrastructure in all lecture 

halls to foster Student centered learning (SCL). 

 

 Established Library at the Departments of Political Science, 

Languages, Social Sciences, and Students Activity Club at the 

Faculty of Arts and Culture. 
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 Modify the infrastructure of the Computer Unit building to set up 

the library, board room, 03 smart classrooms, e-learning centre 

and store at the Faculty of Arts and Culture. 

 

 The usage of the Learning Management System (LMS) for 

teaching and learning purposes has comparatively increased and 

initiatives are getting underway to maintain the LMS and ICT 

advancements in teaching and learning activities. 

 

 As of end of December 2022, a total of 82 (38%) academic staff 

(excluding library academic staff) completed their PhDs. 

 

 The number of staff appointed and promoted to the post of 

professor was 29 as of the end of December 2022. 

 

1.10 Failures and Justification 

i. Sea erosion persisted in the east part of the land of the university 

and the university was unable to rectify the issue with the current 

scale of capital allocation. The university has brought this matter to 

the consideration of the Coastal Conservation Department, which 

has promised to take some initiatives to resolve the problem.  

 
ii. The university faces the threat of floods during the rainy season due 

to the overflowing of the Gal Oya.  The university has not been able 

to construct the flood protection bund despite of the many attempts 

made to approach the relevant authorities. 

 
iii. Failure to attract foreign students for UG or PG Programmes. This is 

due to the location of the University, which is almost 360 Km away 

from the capital of SL-Colombo. The internal transportation does 

not meet the expectations of students who wish to enrol here 
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because it takes almost 9 hours to go from Colombo to SEUSL by 

bus or train. Domestic flights are not in operation.  

 
iv. Failure to attract accomplished visiting scholars and academics from 

within the country and abroad. This can be attributed to the same 

reasons as highlighted in iii. 

 
v. Recruitments: 

The following cadre positions have not yet been filled; 

 Permanent Medical Officers to the Health Center – Doctors are 

not interested to join the University Service as the Ministry of 

Health offers a higher salary and better prospects. However, the 

Health Center functions with Medical Officers appointed on a 

part-time basis. 

 

 Project manager - As Engineers with relevant qualifications and 

experience are not willing to serve the university at a low salary, 

this position remains vacant. 

 

1.11 Future Plans  

 

 To perform curriculum revisions of academic programmes informed 

by a consistent and comprehensive policy for curriculum review. 

 

 SEUSL has taken steps to offer many new degree programmes to 

cater to the needs of the country. Table 1.10 shows the present status 

of new degree programmes and diploma programmes to be 

commenced by the faculties. 
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Table 1.10: New study Programmes to be commenced. 

F
a

cu
lt

y
 Undergraduate/ 

Postgraduate/ Certificate/ 
Diploma Programmes 

SLQF 
Level 

General/ 
Special (If 
Applicable) 

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

 

M
e

d
iu

m
 

Current Status 

F
A

C
 

BA Honours in History 6 Honours 04 Years Tamil 
Waiting for the 
UGC Approval 

Commence “Tourism” as 
a main subject for BA 
General degree 

- 
Main course 
in General 

03 Years 
Tamil/E

nglish 
Work in 
process 

Diploma in IT - Diploma 01 Year English 
Waiting for 
Commissions 
instruction 

Short course in Yoga - Short course 
03 

months 
Tamil 

Work in 
process 

Certificate course in 
Computer Application 

- 
Certificate 

course 
- - - 

MA in Geography 10 Master 02 years 
Tamil/ 
English 

- 

F
IA

 

Dip. in Information 
Technology 

3 - 01 Year English In progress 

Certificate in Arabic 2 - 
06 

Months 
Arabic 

Council 
approved the 
proposal for 
the courses 

Diploma in Arabic 3 - 01 Year Arabic 

F
A

S
 

Certificate/ Diploma in 
Computer Laboratory 
Technology 

3 -  

English 

To initiate the 
proposal 

Diploma in Information 
and Communication 
(DICT) 

3 - 01 Year 

Senate referred 
the proposal to 
the CDC/ 
Senate 

Bachelor of Science (BSc) 
(Hons) Multi-Disciplinary 

6 Honours 04 Years 
To initiate the 
proposal 

Bachelor of Science (BSc.) 
(External Degree): 
(External offering of 
existing degrees at FAS) 

5 General 03 years 
To initiate the 
proposal 

Honours Degree in 
Applied and 
Environmental Geology 

6 Honours 04 years 

Council 
approved the 
proposal for 
UGC 

Bachelor of Science (BSc.) 
in Analytical/ 
Pharmaceutical Chemistry 

5 Honours 04 years 
To initiate the 
proposal 

Bachelor of Unani 
Medicine & Surgery 
(BUMS) in SEUSL 

6 Honours 04 years 

Analysing the 
rationale and 
the feasibility 
study in 
progress 

M. Sc. In Environmental 
Science & Technology 

10 - 02 years English 

Content 
development 
and the 
stakeholder 
feedback 
survey are in 
progress 
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F
T

 

Bachelor of Information & 
Communication 
Technology 
(External) 

5 General 03 Years 

English 

Under Review 
in UGC and 
expected to 
commence in 
2023 

M.Sc in Information & 
Communication 
Technology 

10 - 02 Years 

Developing 
Proposal and 
expected to 
commence in 
2023 

 

 Separate building for the department of Geography (Faculty of Arts 

and Culture) was requested and proposal was in place.  

 

 Conduct a comprehensive faculty review of academic programmes 

(Faculty of Arts and Culture). 

 

 Establish a Center to provide accessibility, teaching-learning material 

in accessible formats and other necessary facilities to accommodate 

differently abled students. Establish necessary access, toilets and 

other facilities in accessible formats for differently abled students. 

 

 Building of a permanent black kitchen to the faculty canteen (Faculty 

of Arts and Culture)  and extend the students cafeteria facilities 

 

 To regularize standard operating policy for regular and standard 

review, upgrading and reviewing curricula for all study 

programmes. 

 

 To conduct curricular consultative programmes for all study 

programmes. 

 

 To enhance the optimal implementation of LMS. 

 

 To undergo quality assurance review of academic programmes 

which had not been reviewed.  

 

 To take steps to increase the impact of our researchers. 
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 To initiate the academic Programmes that are demanded by society 

and industry. 

 

 To introduce comprehensive enterprise research plans to automate 

and integrate co-organization functions. 

 

 Qualifying new linkage with other international partners for 

collaborative research. 

 

 To motivate staff to obtain university grants and other competitive 

grants.
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2. Details of Resources & Students               

2.1. Student population and permanent Staff 

Student population and permanent staff details of all categories as at end of December 2021 and end of December 2022 are shown 
in table 2.1. 

Table 2.1: Student population and details of permanent staff  

Faculty/Department/Division/Unit 

Total 
Students 

Total 
Academic 

Staff 

Academic 
Supportive 

Staff 

Administrative 
& Other 

Executive Staff 

Non -Academic & 
Non-Administrative 

Staff 

2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 

Faculty of Arts & Culture 1258 1299 47 54 09 09 01 01 

416 400 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 742 1024 36 41 02 02 01 01 

Faculty of Management & Commerce 1401 1868 33 38 02 02 01 01 

Faculty of Islamic Studies & Arabic Language 1308 1746 24 28 01 01 01 01 

Faculty of Engineering 479 400 29 32 
  

02 02 

Faculty of Technology 655 848 25 25 01 01 

Library 

  

05 5 01 01 01 01 

General Administration 

  

  
21 19 

CEDPL 01 01 

Physical Education Unit 03 04 

 
 

 

Information and Statistics Unit 01 01 

Career guidance Unit 01 02 

Network Operations Centre 01 01 

Other Departments  

Total 5843 7185 199 223 21 23 30 28 416 400 
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2.2 Details of Local Students 

Table 2.2:  Local Students (New Students) in Internal Undergraduate Degree Programmes 

Faculty 
Programme of 
study 

Year of 
Intake 

Agreed 
Intake 

No. 
Registered 

No. 
following 
the course 

Year of 
Intake 

Agreed 
Intake 

No. 
Registered 

No. 
following 
the course 

As at December 2021 As at December 2022 

Faculty of Arts and 
Culture 

Arts 2019/2020 421 384 380 2020/2021 406 387 385 

Faculty of 
Management and 
Commerce 

Management  
2019/2020 

188 183 183 

2020/2021 

178 178 175 

Commerce 152 149 142 152 134 124 

MIT 170 159 159 170 169 166 

Faculty of Applied 
Sciences 

Physical 
Sciences 

2019/2020 

223 146 136 

2020/2021 

218 161 130 

Biological 
Sciences 

212 161 136 207 176 149 

Faculty of Islamic 
Studies And Arabic 
language  

Arabic 
Language  

2019/2020 

225 206 199 

2020/2021 

225 226 216 

Islamic 
Studies  

278 268 263 278 303 272 

Faculty of Engineering Engineering 2019/2020 145 130 130 2020/2021 130 106 106 

Faculty of Technology 
BST 

2019/2020 
109 105 105 

2020/2021 
109 108 107 

ICT 100 96 96 100 89 88 

Total 2223 1987 1929  2173 2037 1918 

 
*     06 students postponed from the academic year 2017/2018 have joined in 2018/2019 
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Table 2.3:  Local Students Enrolment (Total No. of Students) in Internal Undergraduate Degree Programmes 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Faculty Programme of study 
Year of 
study 

Year of Intake 
UGC Intake (Local Students) 

Year of Intake 
UGC Intake (Local Students) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

As at 31st December 2021 As at 31st December 2022 

Faculty of 
Arts and 
Culture 

Arts 1st Year 2019/2020 37 343 380 2020/2021 44 341 385 

Arts 2nd Year 2018/2019 48 313 361 2019/2020 37 343 380 

Arts 3rd Year 2017/2018 33 321 354 2018/2019 48 313 361 

Arts (Special) 4th Year 2016/2017 13 150 163 2017/2018 20 153 173 

   Sub Total 131 1,127 1,258 Sub Total 149 1150 1299 

Faculty of 
Management 
and 
Commerce 

Management  

1st Year 2019/2020 

66 117 183 

2020/2021 

59 116 175 

Commerce 50 92 142 32 92 124 

MIT 28 131 159 31 135 166 

Management  

1st Year  2019/2020 

66 116 182 

Commerce 50 93 143 

MIT 28 131 159 

Management  

2nd Year 2018/2019 

56 67 123 

2018/2019 

56 67 123 

Commerce 28 79 107 28 79 107 

MIT 20 88 108 20 89 109 

Management  

3rd Year 2017/2018 

39 98 137 

2017/2018 

39 98 137 

Commerce 38 63 101 38 63 101 

MIT 19 82 101 19 82 101 

Management  
4th Year 2016/2017 

51 76 127 
2016/2017 

51 77 128 

Commerce 38 74 112 38 74 112 

   Sub Total 433 967 1,400 Sub Total 555 1312 1867 

Faculty of 
Applied 
Sciences 

Physical Science 
1st Year 2019/2020 

73 63 136 
2020/2021 

59 71 130 

Biological Science 30 106 136 22 127 149 

Physical Science 
1st Year  2019/2020 

73 64 137 

Biological Science 31 107 138 

Physical Science 
2nd Year 2018/2019 

44 51 95 
2018/2019 

44 51 95 

Biological Science 14 97 111 14 97 111 

Physical Science 
3rd Year 2017/2018 

50 51 101 
2017/2018 

50 51 101 

Biological Science 21 91 112 21 91 112 

Physical Science 
4th Year 2016/2017 

5 9 14 
2016/2017 

5 9 14 

Biological Science 6 31 37 6 31 37 

   Sub Total 243 499 742 Sub Total 325 699 1024 
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Faculty Programme of study Year of study 
Year of Intake 

UGC Intake (Local Students) Year of 
Intake 

UGC Intake (Local Students) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

As at 31st December 2021 As at 31st December 2022 

Faculty of 
Islamic Studies 
and Arabic 
language  

Arabic Language  
1st Year 2019/2020 

64 135 199 
2020/2021 

72 144 216 

Islamic Studies  38 225 263 44 228 272 

Arabic Language  
2nd Year 2018/2019 

60 119 179 
2019/2020 

62 135 197 

Islamic Studies  32 176 208 38 224 262 

Arabic Language  
3rd Year 2017/2018 

61 121 182 
2018/2019 

60 118 178 

Islamic Studies  35 196 231 32 179 208 

Arabic Language  
4th Year 2016/2017 

6 10 16 
2017/2018 

61 121 182 

Islamic Studies  11 19 30 35 196 231 

    307 1,001 1,308 Sub Total 404 1345 1746 

Faculty of 
Engineering 

B.Sc. Engineering 1st Year 2019/2020 106 24 130 2020/2021 87 19 106 

B.Sc. Engineering 2nd Year 2018/2019 68 13 81 2019/2020 106 24 130 

B.Sc. Engineering 3rd Year 2017/2018 73 10 83 2018/2019 68 13 81 

B.Sc. Engineering 4th Year 2016/2017 72 16 88 2017/2018 73 10 83 

B.Sc. Engineering Final Year 2015/2016 76 21 97     

    395 84 479 Sub Total 334 66 400 

Faculty of 
Technology 

 
 

Biosystems Technology 
1st Year 2019/2020 

22 83 105 
2020/2021 

23 84 107 

ICT 59 37 96 59 29 88 

Biosystems Technology 
1st Year  2019/2020 

22 81 103 

ICT 59 37 96 

Bio systems Technology 
2nd Year 2018/2019 

18 64 82 
2018/2019 

18 64 82 

ICT 50 19 69 50 19 69 

Bio systems Technology 
3rd Year 2017/2018 

22 61 83 
2017/2018 

22 61 83 

ICT 44 27 71 44 27 71 

Bio systems Technology 
4th Year 2016/2017 

15 65 80 
2016/2017 

15 65 80 

ICT 53 16 69 53 16 69 

   Sub Total 283 372 655 Sub Total 365 483 848 

Total 1792 4050 5842 Total 2132 5055 7184 
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Table 2.4:   Enrolment (Total No. of Students) in External Undergraduate Degree Fee Levying Programmes 

 

Table 2.5:  Local Students New Entrants during (January – December 2021) and (January – December 2022) in Postgraduate Degree Programmes 

Programme of study Year of study 

Student Enrolment(total no. of 
registered students)  
(as at 31st December 2021) 

Student Enrolment(total no. of 
registered students)  
(as at 31st December 2022) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Bachelor of Arts 1st, 2nd& 3rd year 3,660 4,152 7,812 3600 4070 7670 

Bachelor of Business Administration 1st, 2nd& 3rd year 2,514 1,176 3,690 2480 1158 3638 

Bachelor of Commerce 1st, 2nd& 3rd year 354 304 658 344 295 1233 

Total 6,528 5,632 12,160 6424 5523 12,541 

Name of the Faculty Programme of Study 
Full Time/ 
Part Time 

New Entrants  
(January – December 2021) 

Full Time/ 
Part Time 

New Entrants  
(January – December 2022) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Faculty of Arts and 
Culture 

PG Dip in Tamil 
Part Time 

3 1 4 
Part Time 

- - - 

MA in Tamil 2 3 5 - - - 

M.phil. in Tamil   

Full/ Part 
Time 

1 6 7 

Full/ Part Time 

- - - 

M.phil. in Geography 2 8 10 - - - 

M.phil. in Philosophy 1 2 3 - - - 

M.phil. in Political Science 3 2 5 - - - 

M.phil. in Sociology 4 3 7 - - - 

PhD. in Tamil   

Full/ Part 
Time 

7 1 8 

Full/ Part Time 

- - - 

PhD. in Geography 3 - 3 - - - 

PhD. in Philosophy 3 - 3 - - - 

PhD. in Political Science - - - - - - 

PhD. in Sociology  2 1 3 - - - 

Faculty of Applied 
Sciences 

PG Dip. in Applied Statistics  
Part Timea 

6 4 10 
Part Time 

- - - 

MPhil in Physics 1 - 1 - 1 1 
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Table 2.6:  Local Students Enrolment (Total No .of Students) in Postgraduate Degree Programmes 

Faculty of Management 
and Commerce 

Master of Business Administration Full Time - - - Full Time 42 22 64 

MPhil in Management 

 

 Full Time 17 3 20 

PGDM   Full Time 4 2 6 

PhD in Management  Full/Part Time - 1 1 

Faculty of Technology 
M.phil  in Biosystems Technology 
(Research Degree Programme) 

Full Time    Full Time 1 - 1 

Part Time 3 2 5 Part Time - 1 1 

Faculty of Islamic Studies 
and Arabic Lanuage 

MPhil in Islamic Studies  
 

 Full time 5 8 13 

PhD in Islamic Studies  Full time 8 1 9 

Total    41 33 74  77 39 116 

Name of the Faculty Programme of Study 
Full Time/ 
Part Time 

Student Enrolment (total no. of 
registered students) 
(as at 31st December 2021) 

Full Time/ 
Part Time 

Student Enrolment (total no. 
of registered students) 
(as at 31st December 2022) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Faculty of Arts and 
Culture 

Pg Dip in Tamil Part Time 7 2 9 
Part Time 

5 2 7 

MA in Tamil  Full/Part Time 7 7 14 4 6 10 

Mphil in Tamil   

Full/Part Time 

35 16 51 

Full/Part Time 

33 17 50 

M.phil. in Geography 2 8 10 2 7 9 

M.phil. in Philosophy 1 2 3 0 3 3 

M.phil. in Political Science 3 2 5 3 2 5 

M.phil. in Sociology 4 3 7 4 3 7 

PhD. in  Tamil   7 1 8 6 1 7 

PhD. in Geography 

Full/Part Time 

3 - 3 

Full/Part Time 

2 0 2 

PhD. in Philosophy 3 - 3 2 0 2 

PhD. in Political Science - - - 0 0 0 

PhD. in Sociology 2 1 3 2 1 3 

Sub Total  74 42 116  63 42 105 

Faculty of 
Management and 
Commerce 

PG Dip in Management  Full Time 10 01 11 Full Time 13 3 16 

Master of Business Administration Full Time 234 62 296 Full Time 260 80 340 

M.Phil in Management   Full/Part Time 17 03 20 

PhD in Management   Full/Part Time - 01 01 
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2.3 Details of Foreign Students 

 Table 2.7:  Foreign Students (students selected under foreign category) Enrolment (Total No. of Students) in Undergraduate Degree Programmes – 2022 (as 

at 31st December 2022) 

Faculty 
Programme of 
study 

Year of study Country 
Year of 
Intake 

Student Enrolment(total no. of 
registered students) 

Male Female Total 

Faculty of Management and 
Commerce 

Management 4th Year Swaziland 2016/2017 1 0 1 

Total 1 0 1 

 

Sub Total    244 63 307  290 87 377 

Faculty of Islamic 
Studies and Arabic 
Lanuage 

MPhil in Islamic Studies 
 

 Full time 5 8 13 

PhD in Islamic Studies  Full time 8 1 9 

Sub Total        13 9 22 

Faculty of Applied 
Sciences 

PG Dip. in Applied Statistics  Part Time 4 3 7 Part Time 4 3 7 

MPhil in Physics   Part time - 1 1 

Sub Total  4 3 7  4 4 8 

Faculty of 
Technology 

M.Phill in BioSystems Technology 
Full Time    Full Time 8 7 15 

Part Time 9 8 17 Part Time 1 2 3 

 PhD in Biosystems Technology 
(research degree programme) 

    Full Time 1  1 

 Sub Total    9 8 17  10 9 19 

                                  Grand Total 331 116 447  380 151 531 
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2.4 Graduate Output 
 

Table 2.8: Undergraduate Output – Internal  

Faculty 
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BSc. 

Engineeri
ng 

(Special) 

10/20 R 2013/2014 4 2  

BSc. Engineering 
(Special) 

01/2022 R 2012/13 1 1 

11/20 R 2012/2013 5 3  02/2022 R 2012/13 2 2 

11/20 R 2013/2014 19 13  03/2022 M 2015/16 92 70 

1/21 M 2014/2015 89 74  03/2022 M 2014/15 7 3 

1/21 M 2013/2014 2 1  04/2022 M 2015/16 2 2 

4/21 R 2014/2015 5 1  06/2022 R 2013/14 1 1 

5/21 R 2014/2015 5 1  06/2022 M 2015/16 3 3 

5/21 R 2013/2014 1 1  07/2022 R 2011/12 1 1 

6/21 R 2014/2015 2 1  07/2022 R 2013/14 9 9 

11/21 R 2014/2015 9 3  07/2022 R 2014/14 1 1 

12/21 R 2014/2015 5 1  07/2022 M 2015/16 5 5 

              

A
p
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ed
 S
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s 

B.Sc  
(Genaral) 

3/21 R 2015/2016 41 5  

B.Sc  (Genaral) 

02/2022 M 2016/17 
176 

66 

4/21 M 2016/2017 203 49  01/2022 M 2016/17 1 

4/21 R 

2014/2015   

60 23 

 02/2022 R 
2014/15 
2015/16 

21 21 

2015/2016  06/2022 R 
2014/15 
2015/16 

12 12 

B.Sc 
(Special) 

4/21 M 2014/2015 7 7  B.Sc. (Spl. Chemistry)  05/2022 M 2015/16 08 8 

5/21 M 2014/2015 9 9  B.Sc. (Spl. Mathematics)  04/2022 M 2015/16 11 8 

6/21 M 2014/2015 8 8  B.Sc. (Spl. Botany)  05/2022 M 2015/16 6 6 

6/21 M 2014/2015 8 8  B.Sc. (Spl. Biology)  05/2022 M 2015/16 3 3 

4/21 M 2014/2015 7 6  B.Sc. (Spl. Mathematics)  06/2022 R 2014/15 1 1 

 
 B.Sc. (Spl. Statistics)  06/2022 M 2015/16 10 10 

 B.Sc. (Spl. Computer Science)  05/2022 M 2015/16 5 5 
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 B.Sc. (Spl. Physics)  06/2022 M 2015/16 9 6 
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B.Sc MIT 

3/21 M 2015/2016 6 4  

B.Sc MIT 

02/2022 R 2013/14 

54 

1 

3/21 R 2012/2013 1 1  02/2022 R 2015/16 3 

3/21 R 2014/2015 6 2  02/2022 R 2016/17 4 

3/21 R 2015/2016 12 2  03/2022 R 2015/16 
21 

1 

7/21 M 2016/2017 117 69  03/2022 R 2016/17 7 

7/21 R 2015/2016 3 1  09/2022 R 2013/14 

21 

1 

 

 09/2022 R 2014/15 1 

 09/2022 R 2015/16 2 

 09/2022 R 2016/17 8 

BBA 
(Special) 

7/21 M 2015/2016 125 107  

BBA 
(Special) 

10/2022 M 2016/17 125 114 

4/21 R 2014/2015 2 1  02/2022 R 2015/16 
9 

1 

4/21 R 2012/2013 1 1  02/2022 R 2014/15 1 

3/21 R 2014/2015 8 2  03/2022 R 2013/14 2 2 

 

 03/2022 R 2015/16 9 3 

 03/2022 R 2015/16 15 15 

 06/2022 R 2013/14 1 1 

 06/2022 R 2014/15 5 1 

 06/2022 R 2015/16 5 2 

 09/2022 R 2015/16 1 1 

B.Com 
(Special) 

7/21 M 2015/2016 110 87  

B.Com 
(Special) 

10/2022 M 2016/17 117 102 

3/21 R 2014/2015 10 5  02/2022 R 2013/14 4 1 

3/21 R 2012/2013 1 1  02/2022 R 2014/15 1 1 

 

 02/2022 R 2015/16 2 2 

 03/2022 R 2011/12 1 1 

 03/2022 R 2013/15 3 3 

 03/2022 R 2015/16 9 8 

 06/2022 R 2014/15 2 2 

 09/2022 R 2013/14 1 1 
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BA. 
(Special) 

4/21 M 2014/2015 1 1  BA. 
(Special) 

08/2022 M 2016/17 161 161 

4/21 M 2015/2016 146 141   

BA. 
(General) 

3/21 M 2016/2017 149 115  

 3/21 M 2015/2016 2 0  

3/21 R 2015/2016 3 3  
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BA. 
(General) 

4/21 M 2016/2017 346 282  

BA. 
(General) 

01/2022  R 2015/16 1 1 

4/21 R 2015/2016 15 6  01/2022  R 2016/17 1 1 

 

 01/2022  R 2012/13 1 1 

 01/2022  R 2016/17 2 2 

 01/2022  M 2016/17 2 2 

 01/2022  M 2015/16 1 1 

 03/2022 R 2016/17 1 1 

 03/2022 R 2014/15 1 1 

 03/2022 R 2016/17 3 3 

 11/2022 M 2011/12 1 1 

 11/2022 M 2015/16 3 3 

 11/2022 M 2016/17 27 27 

BA. 
(Special) 

5/21 M 2015/2016 
44 

8  
 

6/21 M 2015/2016 27  
         

T
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h
n

o
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g

y
 

 

 
BICT (Special) 

12/2021 M 2015/16 
21 

6 

 02/2022 M 2015/16 9 

 

BST (Special) 

08/2021 M 2015/16 

76 

24 

 10/2021 M 2015/16 22 

 12/2021 M 2015/16 25 
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Table 2.9: Undergraduate Output: External  

Program of study 
General/ 
Special 

No. Graduated 

(From January - December 2021) 
No. Graduated 

(From January - December 2022) 
Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Bachelor of Arts General 0 0 0 60 82 142 

Bachelor of Business Administration General 0 0 0 34 18 52 

Bachelor of Commerce General 0 0 0 09 10 19 

Total 0 0 0 103 110 213 
 

 

Table 2.10: Postgraduate Output  

Faculty Name of the Programme of Study 

No. Graduated 
(From January - December 2021) 

No. Graduated 
(From January - December 2022) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Management & 
Commerce 

Master of Business Administration 15 01 16 14 3 17 

PG Diploma in Management 02 - 02 11 1 12 

Arts and Culture 
M.Phil in Tamil 01 - 01 03 01 04 

MA in Tamil - - - 01 - 01 

Total 18 01 19 04 01 05 
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2.5 Hostels 

Table 2.11: No. of Students satisfied and received hostel facilities by Faculty during 2022 

Faculty  Batch Year 
Year of 
Intake 

No. of Students 
satisfy the 
selection criteria 
for hostels 

No. of students received 
Hostel facilities 

Male Female Total 

FAC 

1st year  (2020/2021) 385 36 278 314 

2nd year   (2019/2020) 380 24 270 294 

3rd year   (2018/2019) 361 40 258 298 

4th year   (2017/2018) 173 16 105 121 

FIA 

1st year  (2020/2021) 488 93 282 375 

2nd year   (2019/2020) 459 86 275 361 

3rd year   (2018/2019) 386 80 252 332 

4th year   (2017/2018) 413 6 10 16 

FMC 

1st year  (2020/2021) 465 
106 293 399 

1st year (2019/2020) 484 

2nd year  (2018/2019) 339 105 260 365 

3rd year  (2017/2018)  339 96 190 286 

4th year   (2016/2017) 241 70 124 194 

FAS 

1st year  (2020/2021) 279 
72 160 232 

1st year (2019/2020) 275 

2nd year   (2018/2019) 206 87 120 207 

3rd year   (2017/2018) 213 57 136 193 

4th year   (2016/2017) 51 18 79 97 

FE 

1st year  (2020/2021) 106 87 19 106 

2nd year   (2019/2020) 130 105 24 129 

3rd year   (2018/2019) 81 68 12 80 

4th year   (2017/2018) 83 73 10 83 

FT 

1st year  (2020/2021) 195 86 103 189 

1st year   (2019/2020) 199 82 97 179 

2nd year   (2018/2019) 151 79 73 152 

3rd year   (2017/2018) 154 63 84 147 

4th year   (2016/2017) 149 80 22 102 

Total  7185 1715 3536 5251 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

48 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

Table 2.12: Permanent Hostels - 2022 

Name 
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Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-01 
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2010 170 - 182 - 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-02 

2014 396 - 488 - 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-03 

2016 396 - 522 - 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-04  

2004 180 - 184 - 1,200/- 

Temporary 
building 

2013 70 - 105 - 1200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-01(A) 

2010 - 266 - 555 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-01(B) 

2016 - 396 - 823 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-02 

2014 - 396 - 619 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-03 

2016 - 396 - 488 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-04 

2004 - 180 - 97 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-05 

2018 - 396 - 459 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
SGH-01 

B
a

n
g

al
aw

ad
y

  

S
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m
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th
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2016 - 215 - 290 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
SGH-02 

500 m 2016 - 60 - 205 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
SBH-01 

500 m 2018 396 - 234 - 1,200/- 

Total   1608 2305 1715 3536 
 

Grand total  3913 5251  
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2.6 Employability Survey 2022 

2.6.1 Undergraduate Output of the University (Convocation 2022) 

A total of 2279 graduands from five faculties, Faculty of Arts and Culture, 

Faculty of Management and Commerce, Faculty of Applied Sciences, 

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language and Faculty of Engineering 

have been conferred their degrees at the convocation held from 07th to 10th 

of February 2022. Table 2.13 illustrates the distribution of undergraduate 

output of the University in the Convocation 2022. 

 

Table 2.13: Frequency distribution of undergraduate output (Convocation 2022) 

Faculty 
Academic Year 

2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 Total 

Arts and Culture 91 267 204 562 

Applied Sciences 33 168 97 298 

Engineering 91 87 - 178 

Islamic Studies and Arabic 
Language 

40 315 287 642 

Management and Commerce 177 288 134 599 

Grand Total 432 1125 722 2279 
Note: Effective dates of degree programmes are 

FAC: 09/02/2019, 09/03/2019, 07/09/2019, 18/03/2020, 17/04/2020, 20/10/2020  

FE: 01/03/2019, 01/04/2019, 01/12/2019, 01/01/2020, 01/03/2020, 01/08/2020, 01/10/2020, 01/11/2020, 01/01/2021, 01/04/2021, 01/05/2021, 

01/06/2021 

FIA: 02/02/2019, 25/03/2019, 24/08/2019, 08/03/2020, 19/05/2020, 01/07/2020, 20/10/2020 

FAS: 03/02/2019, 02/10/2019, 24/10/2019, 01/01/2020, 17/02/2020, 18/02/2020, 21/07/2020, 16/08/2020, 18/08/2020, 06/09/2020, 16/10/2020, 

/11/2020, 22/04/2021, 30/04/2021, 18/05/2021, 03/06/2021, 08/06/2021 

FMC: 11/04/2019, 02/07/2019, 24/12/2019, 16/07/2020, 22/07/2020, 08/10/2020, 13/03/2021, 10/04/2021 

 

Table 2.14: Frequency distribution of undergraduate output (By year) 

Faculty 2019 2020 2021 Total 

Arts and Culture 214 348 - 562 

Applied Sciences 130 130 38 298 

Engineering 5 93 80 178 

Islamic Studies and Arabic 
Language 329 313 - 642 

Management and Commerce 287 293 19 599 

Total 965 1177 137 2279 
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Respondents by Faculty   

Table 2.15: Frequency distribution of respondents by Faculty-2019 

Faculty 
Number Graduated in 

2019 

Questionnaires 

Received 

Response Rate 

(%) 

FAC 214 192 89.72 

FAS 130 107 82.31 

FIA 329 280 85.11 

FMC 287 250 87.11 

All 960 829 86.35 

 
Remark: There were only 5 students from the Faculty of Engineering were graduated in 2019 during the 

Convocation 2022. (This information was not taken into account for further analyses).  

 
Table 2.16: Frequency distribution of respondents by Faculty-2020 

Faculty Number Graduated in 2020 
Questionnaires 
Received 

Response Rate 
(%) 

FAC 348 303 87.07 

FAS 130 114 87.69 

FE 93 85 91.40 

FIA 313 276 88.18 

FMC 293 265 90.44 

All 1177 1043 88.62 

 

Table 2.17: Frequency distribution of respondents by Faculty-2021 

Faculty Number Graduated in 2021 
Questionnaires 

Received 

Response Rate 

(%) 

FAC - - - 

FAS 38 38 100 

FE 80 76 95 

FIA - - - 

FMC 19 19 100 

All 137 137  

 
Remark: Since there are less no of graduands conferred the degree from the Faculty of Arts and Culture (0), Faculty of Islamic 

Studies and Arabic Language (0), Faculty of Applied Sciences (38) and Faculty of Management and Commerce (19) in 

2021 (Others who have effective date of their degree programme in 2021 will be conferred in the next convocation), 

their information was not taken into account for further analyses). 
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2.6.2 Employability  

 Employability by Faculty 

Table 2.18: Frequency distribution of employability by Faculty- Graduands 2019 

Faculty Employed Unemployed n 

Arts and Culture 168 (91.80%) 15 (8.20%) 183 

Applied Sciences 89 (85.58%) 15 (14.42%) 104 

Islamic Studies and Arabic 
Language 

253 (92.67%) 253 (7.33%) 273 

Management and Commerce 215 (89.21%) 26 (10.79%) 241 

Overall 727 (90.51%) 76 (9.49%) 803 

 

Table 2.19: Frequency distribution of employability by Faculty- Graduands 2020 

Faculty Employed Unemployed n 

Arts and Culture 37 (13.96%) 228 (86.04%) 265 

Applied Sciences 47 (45.09%) 57 (54.81%) 104 

Engineering 75 (90.36%) 8 (9.64%) 83 

Islamic Studies and Arabic 
Language 

38 (15.77%) 203 (84.23%) 241 

Management and Commerce 91 (36.40%) 159 (63.60%) 250 

Overall 288(30.54%) 655 (69.46%) 943 

 

Table 2.20: Frequency distribution of employability - Graduands 2021 

Faculty Employed Unemployed n 

Engineering 69 (92.00%) 6 (8.00%) 75 
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3 Human Resource s        
 

3.1 Details of Cardre 
 
 

Table 3.1:  Approved Cadre and Present Staff as at 31st December, 2022 - All Staff 

Service Category 
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Primary Level 

Primary Grade - Unskilled U-PL 1 179 124 - - - 

58 58 Primary Grade - Semi skilled U-PL 2 45 31 - - - 

Primary Grade - Skilled U-PL 3  52 63 a,b  - - 

Secondary Level 

Clerical & Allied Staff 

U-MN 1 138 96 - - - 

9 9 
U-MN 2 6 3 - - - 

U-MN 3 15 12 - - - 

U-MN 4 0 39 d - - - 

Technical Staff 

U-MT 1 60 25 - 2 - 

36 33 

U-MN 1 5 3 - 1 - 

U-MN 2 3 2 - - - 

U-MN 3 0 0 c - - - 

U-MN 4  0 2  - - - 

Tertiary Level 

Academic Support Staff U-AS 1 14 10 4 - - 
14 10 

Academic Support Staff U-AS 2 23 13 - - - 

Other Executive Staff *2 U-EX 1 3 1 0 - - 2 2 

Administrative Staff & Financial Staff *1 U-EX 1 17 11 - - - 6 6 

Temporary Tutor U-AC 1 (fixed) - - - - - 

40 40 

Temporary Instructor U-AC 1 (fixed) 18 - 16 - - 

Temporary Demonstrator U-AC 1 (fixed) 56 - 45 - - 

Temporary Research Assistant U-AC 2/ U-AC 1 (fixed) 1 - - - - 

Temporary Lecturer/Temp.Asst.Lecturer U-AC 2 (fixed) 61 - 35 - - 

Senior Level 

Medical officers 
U-MO 1 2 0 - 3 - 

2 -1 
U-MO 2 0 0 - - - 

Other Executive Staff *2 U-EX 2 7 4 - - - 3 3 

Administrative Staff & Financial Staff *1 
U-EX 2  10 11 e - 1 - -1 -1 

U-EX 3 2 1 - - - 1 1 

Library Staff 

U-AC 3 5 4 - - - 

2 2 U-AC 4 1 0 - - - 

U-AC 5 1 1 - - - 

Other 
Directors Allowances  3 - - 3 f - - - 

Deans Allowances  6 - - 6 f - - - 

Lecturer(Prob.) U-AC 3(IV) 

255 

67 

01 

- 

14 43 37 

Lecturer (unconfirmed) U-AC 3(III) 17 - 

Lecturer U-AC 3(III) 5 - 

Senior Lecturer Gr II U-AC 3(II) 55 - 

Senior Lecturer Gr I U-AC 3(I) 45 - 

Associate Professors U-AC 4 0 - 

Professor U-AC 5 (II) 23 - 

Senior Professor U-AC 5 (I) 0 1 

Professor Chair 
Senior Professors U-AC 5 (I) 

16 
- - - - 

10 10 
Professors U-AC 5 (II) 6 - - - 

Deputy Vice Chancellor/QA U-AC 5 (II) 1 - - - - 1 1 

Vice Chancellor  U-AC 5 (I) 1  1 g - - - - - 
Note:  *1 Designation as given in the Commission Circular No: 905     

 *2 Excluding Technical Staff  
a   UPL 2 categories converted to UPL 3 salary code on personal to the holder basis by Commission Circular No. 985 dated 

15.05.2012. Therefore the following staff included in the salary code of UPL 3. (Library Attendants -03, Health Service Laborers -
03 and Laboratory Attendants -03) 

b  In 2017 Cadre Book, the following cadres were suppressed. However these cadres were already filled before 2017. (Repairman – 
01, Book Binder -01 and Machine Operator – 02) 

c,d Promotional level upliftment 
e   In 2017 Cadre Book, Administrative Staff & Financial Staff *1 cadres were re allocated. However these cadres were already filled 

before 2017. 
f Appointed from U-AC 3 category of staff attached in the faculties.  
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g Vice Chancellor is from the Faculty of Arts and Culture and already included under U-AC5 (II) category. 

3.2  Academic Staff and Academic Supportive Staff                                                                                                                                             

Table 3.2: Details of Academic and Academic Supportive Staff attached at 31st December 
2022 

 

P- Professor         SL1- Senior Lecturer Gr –I       SL2-Senior Lecturer Gr –II           L- Lecture/Lecturer (Unconfirmed)/Lecturer (Prob)    
AL- Assistant Lecturer  LB- Librarian SALB- Senior Assistant Librarian ALB-Assistant Librrian

F
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L
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FAC 

Dept. of Political Science 2 1  3  

1 2 9 13 

Dept. of Languages 3 3 2 4 

Dept. of Geography 1 3 - 5 

Dept. of Social Sciences 3 2 - 2 

Dept. of Sociology 2 - 2 1 

Dept. of Economics and Statistics - 2 - 5 

Dept. of English Language 
Teaching  

- 1 2 3 

Dept. of Information  and 
Communicaion Technology 

-  1 1 

 Total 11 12 7 24 1 2 9 13 

FIA 
Dept. of Islamic Studies 2 1 4 8 

- - 2 11 
Dept. of Arabic Languages - 4 9 - 

 Total 2 5 13 8 - - 2 11 

FMC 

Dept. of Accountancy & Finance 2 4 3 6 

- 1 - 06 
Dept. of Marketing Management 3 1 - - 

Dept. of Management 3 6 2 - 

Dept. of MIT 2 1 3 2 

 Total 10 12 8 8 - 1 - 06 

FAS 

Dept. of Mathematical Sciences 2 2 2 6 

- - 2 19 

Dept. of Physical Sciences - 3 2 4 

Dept. of Biological Sciences 1 2 1 4 

Dept. of Chemical Sciences - 2 2 2 

Dept. of Computer Sciences 1 1 1 3 

 Total 4 10 8 19 - - 2 19 

FE 

Dept. of Civil Engineering - 3 3 4 

1 6 - 35 

Dept. of Mechanical Engineering 1 1 2 3 

Dept. of Electrical & 
Telecommunication Engineering 

1 1 2 4 

Dept. of Computer Science & 
Engineering 

- - 3 2 

Dept. of Interdisciplinary Studies - - - 2 

 Total 2 5 10 15 1 6 - 35 

FT 
Dept. of BioSystems Technology - - 5 7 

- 5 - 12 
Dept. of ICT - 1 4 8 

 Total - 1 9 15 1 5 - 12 

Library 

 

1 4 - 

 

1 

 

Career Guidance Unit  2 

Network Operations Centre 1 

Information and Statistics Unit 1 

Physical Education Unit 4 

Grand Total 29 45 55 89 1 4 - 2 14 23 96 
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3.3  Administrative, Financial and Other Executive Staff 

Teble 3.3: Details of Administrative, Financial and Other Executive Staff (Permanent)  

Staff Details 
Senior Tertiary 

2021 2022 2021 2022 

Administrative Staff & Financial Staff  12 12 13 11 

Other Executive Staff * 04 04 01 01 

Total 16 16 14 12 
 

* Assistant Internal Auditor, Director/ Accommodation, Works Engineer, Curator, Chief Security Officer 

 

3.4 Non Academic and Non-Administrative Staff (Permenant) 

Teble 3.4: Details of Non Academic and Non-Administrative Staff (Permanent)  

Staff Category 2021 2022 

Technical Staff 31 32 

Clerical And Allied Staff 153 150 

Primary Staff 232 218 

Total 416 400 
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4 Research and Development                

4.1 Details of Research, Innovation and Publications  

Table 4.1: Details of the research articles, books and book chapters published during 2022 

Publication Category 
FAC FMC FAS FIA FE FT Library Sub  Total 

Total  
L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F 

No. of full Papers published in indexed 
Journals including e-journals 

- 12 - 18 01 14 - 16 - 22 - 28 - - 01 110 111 

No. of full Papers published in refreed non-
indexed journals including e-journals 

14 01 8 - 15 01 04 20 01 - 6 04 - 01 48 27 75 

No. of conference Papers published as full 
papers in Conference Proceedings 

06 01 08 02   09 05 03 06 16 05 01 01 43 20 63 

No. of Abstract Publications 05 - 02 - 7  03 - - - 05 - - - 22 - 22 

Total no.of research articles published 39 38 38 57 32 64 03 114 157 271 

No. of Book Chapters published - 10 - 06   - - - - - 06 - - - 22 22 

No. of 
Books 

By the Publisher 01 - - -   - - - - - - - - 01 - 01 

By the Author - - - -   - 01 - - - 02 - - - 03 05 

No. of Articles published - - - -   - - - - - - - - 01 - 01 

Total Publications 50 44 38 58 32 72 03 116 182 300 

 

   L-Published Local    F-Published Foreign  

The details of the above research, Journal, books and articles which are given below. 
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FACULTY OF ARTS AND CULTURE    

Papers published in indexed Journals 
 

Santhirakumar, S., Narmilan, A., & Jayapraba, S. 
(2022). The impact of covid-19 outbreak on school e-
learning system. Isagoge-Journal of Humanities and 
Social Sciences  

 
Ketheeswaran, K., Santhirakumar, S., Narmilan, A., 
& Jayapraba, S. (2022). The Impact of Covid-19 
Outbreak on School E-Learning System. Isagoge-
Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, 2(1). 

 
Debnath, N. G., Biswas, P., & Sameem, M. A. M. 
(2022). Understanding the Socio-Economic and 
Educational status of the children working in the 
brick field of Mohanpur sub-division of Tripura: An 
Analytical Study. Mathematical Statistician and 
Engineering Applications, 71(4), 7476-7493. 

 
Ghosh, T. K., Biswas, P., Roy, P., Bhat, S. C., & 
Sameem, M. A. M. (2022). Teaching Science At The 
Secondary Level of Tripura–A Critical Study. Journal 
of Pharmaceutical Negative Results, 6038-6047. 

 
Yang, C., Rassouli, A., Bhat, U. R., Endrano, A. A., 
Camiwet, D. Y., Shet, J. P.,  Ronald M Hernández. & 
Sameem, M. A. M. (2022). Perceptions of English 
language teachers on the use of text-to-speech 
systems and the google site towards speaking 
competence. Journal of Positive School Psychology, 6(2), 
1928-1937. 

 
Shauli Mukherjee, D., Biswas, P., Bhattacharyya, S., 
Lilangan, C. R. W. B., & Sameem, M. A. M. (2022). 
The Teacher Evaluation Conundrum: Examining the 
Perceptions of Special Education Teacher. Journal of 
Positive School Psychology, 6(2), 1559-1566. 

 
Mukherjee, A. S., Biswas, P., Sur, S., Biswas, S., & 
Sameem, M. A. M. (2022). Study of an adolescent 
ADHD girl child-intervention of parent, school, 
counsellor. Journal of Positive School Psychology, 6(2), 
1952-1960. 

 
Rivera-Lozada, O., Campos-Ugaz, O., Diaz, M. A. A., 
Uribe-Hernández, Y. C., Hernández, R. M., De 
Souza, R., Joel Alanya-Beltran, Mohamed 
Aboobucker Mohamed Sameem..& Tarihoran, N. 
(2022). “I See. I Talk. I Hear.” A Survey on the 
Effectiveness of Instagram App in Developing 
Listening Skill and Vocabulary Size of EFL 
Students. Journal of Positive Psychology and 
Wellbeing, 6(1), 316-323. 

 
Tarihoran, N., Lolandes, E. Y. G., Sánchez, A. D. C. 
G., Diaz, M. A. A., Rad, D., Sameem, M. A. M., José 
Luis Arias Gonzales, Karina Concepción González 
Herrera.. & Alanya-Beltran, J. (2022). “From bricks to 
Click": Metacognitive Reading Skills of Students in 
the Pre and During Pandemic Era. Journal of Positive 
Psychology and Wellbeing, 6(1), 296-306. 

 

Majeed, I., Chethiyar, S. D. M., Sameem, M. A. M., 
Gil, B. A., Sattar, Z., & Inam, R. (2022). Impact of 
Breathing Exercises on Labor Pain Among Pakistan 
Women. Journal of the Indian Academy of Applied 
Psychology, 48(1), 135-141. 

 
Iqbal, M., Shet, J. P., Alsaraireh, M. Y., Rad, D., Ignat, 
S., Sameem, M. A. M., & Beltran, J. A. (2022). 
Interplaying Factors of Students Personal 
Characteristics in Online Learning Modality: 
Evidence in Asian Context. World Journal of English 
Language, 12(2), 392-392. 

 
Safna, M.J.F., & Hazib, A.M.M.(2022). Challenges 
Faced by Ulama in Using Sinhala as a Second 
Language. Shanlax International Journal of Arts Science 
and Humanities 7 (1), 34-38 

 
 

Papers published in non-indexed Journals 
 

Nuskiya, M. H. F. (2022). Assessment of Prospects 
And Constraints of Sustainable Ecotourism: 
Evidence From Batticaloa District. Journal of Tourism 
Economics and Applied Research 6 II pages (39-52) 
Tourism Study Programmes, Department of Economics, 
Faculty of Arts University of Colombo, Sri Lanka 

 
Ismail, F. K. M., & Zubairi, A. M. B. (2022). Item 
Analysis of a Reading Test in Sri Lankan Context 
Using Classical Test Theory. International Journal of 
Learning, Teaching and Educational Research, 21(3). 

 
Salihu Ibrahim & M.A.M. Sameem, (2022), 
Challenges of Internal Security in Nigeria on 
Macroeconomic Performances in Covid-19 Era, 
KALAM International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
vk;. m];kpah> v/g;. V.& tpfkyrpwp> (2022)> 
,yq;ifapy; kj fLk;Nghf;FthjKk; r%f 
ey;ypzf;fKk; xU tpku;rd Nehf;F: KALAM Internatioal 

Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL 

 
 

Riyal, A.L.M.., (2022), இணை஬ கற்மய஻ல் 
஫஺ைலர்கரின் கற்மல் ஊக்க஻கள், KALAM 

International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
S. Nisthar, S. Vijayakumar & AAM. Nufile, (2022), 
Exogenous Growth: An Evidence from External 
Finance in Context of Sri Lanka, KALAM, 
International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
vk;. ku;ak;> V.vk;. vk;. gh]py; (2022)> nts;s mdu;j;j 
Kfhikj;JtKk; mjd; gpujpgypg;GfSk; mf;Fwizg; 
gpuNjrj;jpid mbg;gilahff; nfhz;l Ma;T> 

KALAM, International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
MHF. Nashra & UL. Milhana, (2022), Challenges of 
Working from Home during Covid – 19 Pandemic: A 
study based on the Academic Staff of the South 
Eastern University of Sri Lanka, KALAM, 
International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
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MAF. Mushandika, S. Santhirakumar & AF. Thahara, 
(2022) The Impact of Covid – 19 on Secondary Level 
Education : Special Reference to Nasriya Central 
College – Chilaw Division, Puttalam District, 
KALAM, International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
 
S. Sajiharan & Kisan Pal Singh, (2022), Deep Learning 
Enabled Course Recommendation Platform, Kalam 
International Research Journal, Fac, Seusl. 
 

லி  .க஫யச஻ம஻  & இ஭஺  .஭ே஫ர , (2022), இயங்ணக஬ில் 
சுதந்த஻஭த்த஻ற்கு பின்ன஭஺ன உள்ளூ஭஺ட்ச஻க் 
கக஺ள்ணகச் ச஼ர்த஻ருத்த முன்க஫஺ற஻வுகளும் 
அலற்ம஻ன் அமுய஺க்கமும், KALAM International 

Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 

஋ம்.஋ச்.஋ப். ஹூஸ்ன஺ & ஋ம்.஋ம். ப஺ஸ஻ல், (2022), 

஫னித உரிண஫கள் ஆணைக்குள௃ கும஻த்த ஫க்கள் 
லிற஻ப்புைர்வு: இயங்ணக ஫னித உரிண஫கள் 
ஆணைக்குள௃லின் கல்முணனப் பி஭஺ந்த஻஬ 
க஺ரி஬஺ய஬த்ணத அடிப்பணை஬஺கக் கக஺ண்ை 
ஆய்வு, KALAM International Research Journal, FAC, 

SEUSL. 
 

ந. சுப஭஺ஜ் & ேக. ஆ஭ைி, (2022), இந்துக்கரின் 
லற஻ப஺ட்டு ஫஭பில் ஆண்கதய்லங்களும் 
குயக்கும஻஬மும்: ஫ட்ைக்கரப்பு ஫஺லட்ைத்த஻ணன 
ண஫஬ப்படுத்த஻஬ ஆய்வு, KALAM International 

Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 

அனுசூ஬஺ ேசன஺த஻஭஺ஜ஺ & ஋ச்.஋ப். பிர்கதௌஸ஻஬஺, 

(2022), இந்து சமுத்த஻஭ லைிக ல஭ய஺ற்ணமக் 
கட்டிக஬ள௃ப்புலத஻ல் ந஺ை஬ங்களும் 
கல்கலட்டுக்களும், KALAM International Research 

Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 

N. Lumna & R. Rajeshkannan, (2022), Health Care 
Access And Its Challenges: A Sociological Study 
Based On Alikkampai Village, Sri Lanka, KALAM 
International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 

 
 

Full Papers published in Conference Proceedings 
 

Thanseem, R. M., Jisna, M. F., Nuskiya, M. H. F., & 
Fowsul Ameer, M. L. (2022). flw;nwhopy; kPdtu;fs; 
vjpu;Nehf;Fk; rthy;fs;: rha;e;jkUJ kw;Wk; 
khspiff;fhL gpuNjrq;fis ikag;gLj;jpa Ma;T. 
10th International Symposium 2022 South Eastern 
University of Sri Lanka. 

 

Fowsul Ameer, M. L., Sahana, M. S., Nuskiya, M. H. 
F., & Jisna, M. F. (2022). The epidemic of women 
obesity & challenges: a risk assessment on 
Matugama DS division. 10th International Symposium 
2022 South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

 
Mushandika, M. A. F., Santhirakumar, S., & Thahara, 
A. F. (2022). The impact of covid-19 on secondary 
level education: special reference to Nasriya Central 
College–Chilaw Division, Puttalam District. 10th 

International Symposium 2022 South Eastern University 
of Sri Lanka. 

 
Asmiya, M. A. F., & Kamalasiri, V. (2022). The 
religious extremism and social harmony in Sri Lanka: 
a critical view Multidisciplinary Research for 
Encountering Contemporary Challenges at: South 
Eastern University of Sri Lanka, 10th International 
Symposium 2022 South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

 
Sanas, A. F., & Ayoob, S. M. (2022). Challenges faced 
by mothers in the post cesarean period: research 
based on Nintavur MOH division. South Eastern 
University of Sri Lanka Oluvil, Sri Lanka, 10th 
International Symposium 2022 South Eastern University 
of Sri Lanka 

 
Rifka, M. U. F., & Nufile, A. A. M. (2022). The 
relationship between economic growth and indirect 
tourism employment: a study based on Sri Lanka. 
IntSym FIA, 2022,FIA,  South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka. 

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Response of the World Health 
Organization to Covid-19 Pandemic. International 
Virtual Conference on ‘Human Resource Strategies: 
Paradigm Shift in the Globalized Scenario’. 

 
Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 

 
Ismail, F. K. M., & Zubairi, A. M. B. (2022). 
Investigation of Item difficulty, Item discrimination 
and Distractor analysis of a reading test in Sri 
Lankan Context. South Eastern University International 
Arts Research Symposium, 2021, FAS, SEUSL. 

 
Sahana, A. R., & Nuskiya, M. H. F. (2022). Assessing 
the challenges of laborers in solid waste 
management: a critical study on Kalmunai Municipal 
Council. South Eastern University International Arts 
Research Symposium, 2021, FAS, SEUSL. 

 
Shafiya, M. N., Rinos, M. H. M., & Nushrath Banu, 
M. M. (2022). Spatial pattern of Covid-19 first, second 
and third waves: study based on Sri Lanka. South 
Eastern University International Arts Research 
Symposium, 2021, 52, FAS, SEUSL. 

 
Narmilan, A., Asmath, A. M. M., Asmiya, A., & 
Santhirakumar, S. (2022). Factors affecting climate 
change adaptation among paddy farmers in coastal 
area of Ampara district. Faculty of Agriculture Eastern 
University, Sri Lanka. 

 
Nisthar, S., Vijayakumar, S., & Nufile, A. A. M. 
(2022). Composition of external finance of Sri Lanka: 
evidence from foreign direct investment. International 
Conference on Contemporary Management 2022, 
University of Jaffna. 

 
Book Chapters Published 

 
Fowsar, M. A., Raja, N. K., & Rameez, M. A. (2021, 
December). COVID-19 pandemic crisis management 
in Sri Lanka. Slipping away from success. In Times of 
Uncertainty (pp. 401-422). Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft 
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mbH & Co. KG. 
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/357501449
_COVID- 

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Political Participation: A Political 
Sociological Abstraction. Shodhnarmada: Global 
Perspectives of Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences 
pages (58-69)  

 
Riswan,M.(2022). Sociological Contribution of 
Michael Cernea at the World Bank. Shodyamuna: 
Global Perspectives of Arts, Humanities and Social 
Sciences 1  

 
Riswan,M.& Bushra Beegom,R.K. (2022). Applied 
Sociology - Practicing Sociological Knowledge: An 
Overview. Shodyamuna: Global Perspectives of Arts, 
Humanities and Social Sciences 1  

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Water Scarcity and Rural Water 
Supply Strategies: Based on Sri Lanka (குடிநீர்ப் 
஧ற்஫ாக்குற஫யும் கிபாமின நீர்வழங்கல் உ஧ானங்களும்: 
இ஬ங்றகறன … Role of Literature, Sociology and 
Economics for the Development of Mankind - 2 ,  
Departments of Tamil, History and Economics. Pollachi: 
NGM College. 

 
Riswan.M. (2022). An Evaluation on the Importance 
of Community Participation in Development Projects 
(அபிவிருத்தி திட்டங்களில் சமுதானப் ஧ங்ககற்பின் 
வகி஧ாகம் குறித்த …. Role of Literature, Sociology and 
Economics for the Development of Mankind - 2. 
Departments of Tamil, History and Economics. Pollachi: 
NGM College. 

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Putting the Last First: Evaluating 
the Participatory Approach of Robert Chambers in 
Rural Development. Shodhbrahmaputra: 
Multidisciplinary Academic Research for Sustainable 
Innovation  

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Rural Water Governance in Sri 
Lanka: Strategy and Practice of Drinking Water 
System. Rural Society: A Transdisciplinary Approach,  
Publisher:   Department of Economics, Bir Raghab Moran 
Government Model College, Doomdooma: Assam  

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Matrilocal Dowry System in Sri 
Lanka. Gender Sensitization & Anti Dowry Campaign: 
Towards Equality, Publisher: Delhi: Academic Publication  

 
Riswan.M. (2022). Impacts of Covid-19 Prevalence on 
Women. Women, Gender & Intersectionality: Issues & 
Concerns,Publisher: Trivandrum: Mythri Books. 

 
 

Book Published (As publisher) 
 

The book titled „Covid-19 Pandemic and Socio-
Economic Issues: An Experience of Sri Lanka‟ edited 
by Department of Economics and Statistics, Faculty 
of Arts and Culture was released. This book presents 
the selected topics as the best papers in the 9th South 
Eastern University International Arts Research 
Symposium. Particularly, this book was dedicated to late 

KMM. Faleel Haque and Dr. SM. Ahamed Lebbe (Senior 
Lecturers in Economics). 

 
 
Faculty of Management and commerce 

 
Papers published in indexed Journals 

 
Ilmudeen, A. (2022). Leveraging IT-enabled dynamic 
capabilities to shape business process agility and firm 
innovative capability: moderating role of turbulent 
environment. Review of Managerial Science, 16(8), 2341-
2379. 

 
Qaffas, A. A., Ilmudeen, A., Almazmomi, N. K., & 
Alharbi, I. M. (2022). “The impact of big data analytics 
talent capability on business intelligence infrastructure 
to achieve firm performance”. Foresight. 

 
Ilmudeen, A. (2022). “IT Governance mechanism and 
IT-enabled dynamic capabilities drives firm 
performance: An empirical study in Sri 
Lanka”. Information Development. 

 
Mubarak, K. M., & Ishar Ali, M.S. (2022). Media 
Advertisement: Does it Really Influence the Purchase 
Intention? International Journal on Economics, Finance 
And Sustainable Development 

 
Haleem, A., Mashroofa, M. M., & Saldeen, M. A. (2022). 
“Influence of financial information seeking behavior on 
financial literacy of the rural residents”. Journal of 
Positive School Psychology, 4962-4970. 

 

Haleem, A. (2022). Exploring The Critical Effect of 

Financial Literacy on Sustainable Business Performance 
In The Context of Firm Performance of Smes In Sri 
Lanka. Research Explorer,  10 (35), 57-88 

 
Raisal, I., Nawaz, N., Appasamy, K., Gajenderan, V., & 
Tarofder, A. K. (2022). “Does Emotional Intelligence 
Affect Organizational Success in the Banking Sector 

in an Emerging Market?”. Academic Journal of 
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sensors with auto encoder deep neural network”. 
Measurement, 111308 Elsevier. 

 
Hemalatha, S., Kshirsagar, P. R., Manoharan, H., 
Vasantha Gowri, N., Vani, A., Qaiyum, S. P 
Vijayakumar,, Vineet Tirth  Sulaima Lebbe Abdul 
Haleem. Prasun Chakrabarti.. & Teressa, D. M. 
(2022). “Novel link establishment communication 
scheme against selfish attack using node reward with 
trust level evaluation algorithm in MANET”. Wireless 
Communications and Mobile Computing, 2022. 

 
Manoharan, H., Haleem, S. L. A., Shitharth, S., 
Kshirsagar, P. R., Tirth, V., Thangamani, M., & 
Chandan, R. R. (2022). “A machine learning 
algorithm for classification of mental 
tasks”. Computers and Electrical Engineering, 99, 
107785. 

 
Mahalaxmi, U. S. B. K., Sahay, K. B., Sabitha, R., 
Haleem, S. L. A., Kaur, P., & Vijayakumar, P. (2022). 
“Using electroencephalogram classification in a 

convolutional neural network, infer privacy on 
healthcare internet of things 5.0”. Expert Systems, 
e12942. 

 
Abdul Haleem, S., Kshirsagar, P. R., Manoharan, H., 
Prathap, B., Pradeep Kumar, K., Tirth, V., Saiful 
Islam , Raghuveer Katragadda.. & Amibo, T. A. 
(2022). “Wireless sensor data acquisition and control 
monitoring model for internet of things 
applications”. Scientific Programming, 2022. 

 
Prabhu Kavin, B., Karki, S., Hemalatha, S., Singh, D., 
Vijayalakshmi, R., Thangamani, M., Sulaima Lebbe 
Abdul Haleem, Deepa Jose. , Vineet Tirth. , Pravin R 
Kshirsagar & Adigo, A. G. (2022). Machine learning-
based secure data acquisition for fake accounts 
detection in future mobile communication 
networks. Wireless Communications and Mobile 
Computing, 2022. 

 
Haleem, S. L. A., Manikandan, N., & Ramachandran, 
M. (2022).” Utilization of Artificial Intelligence-Based 
Wearable Sensors in Deep Residual Network for 
Detecting Heart Disease”. Leveraging AI Technologies 
for Preventing and Detecting Sudden Cardiac Arrest and 
Death (pp. 191-217). IGI Global. 

 
Sangeetha, B. P., Kumar, N., Ambalgi, A. P., Haleem, 
S. L. A., Thilagam, K., & Vijayakumar, P. (2022). 
“IOT based smart irrigation management system for 
environmental sustainability in India”. Sustainable 
Energy Technologies and Assessments, 52, 101973. 

 
Mohamed Thariq, M. G. (2022). “Ergonomic 
evaluation of the manual long handle hoes used in 
farm work in sandy soil in Sri Lanka”. Journal of 
Bangladesh Agricultural University 20(2): 204–210, 2022 

 
Kanesh, S., Narmilan, A., Rifai Kariapper, A., Sabraz, 
N., & Jeyapraba, S. (2022). Farmers‟ perception on 
precision farming technologies: A novel approach. 
Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics 77 (02), 264-
276. 

 
Amarasingam, N., Gonzalez, F., Salgadoe, A. S. A., 
Sandino, J., & Powell, K. (2022). Detection of White 
Leaf Disease in Sugarcane Crops Using UAV-
Derived RGB Imagery with Existing Deep Learning 
Models. Remote Sensing, 14(23), 6137. 

 
Narmilan, A., Gonzalez, F., Salgadoe, A. S. A., & 
Powell, K. (2022). Detection of white leaf disease in 
sugarcane using machine learning techniques over 
UAV multispectral images. Drones, 6(9), 230. 

 
Narmilan, A., Gonzalez, F., Salgadoe, A. S. A., 
Kumarasiri, U. W. L. M., Weerasinghe, H. A. S., & 
Kulasekara, B. R. (2022). Predicting canopy 
chlorophyll content in sugarcane crops using 
machine learning algorithms and spectral vegetation 
indices derived from UAV multispectral 
imagery. Remote Sensing, 14(5), 1140. 

 
Amarasingam, N., Salgadoe, S., Powell, K., Gonzalez, 
L. F., & Natarajan, S. (2022). A review of UAV 
platforms, sensors, and applications for monitoring 
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of sugarcane crops. Remote Sensing Applications: 
Society and Environment, 100712. 
 
Santhirakumar, S., Narmilan, A., & Jayapraba, S. 
(2022). The impact of covid-19 outbreak on school e-
learning system. Isagoge-Journal of Humanities and 
Social Sciences 2 (1) 

 
Dayananda, L. P. S. S. K., Narmilan, A., & Pirapuraj, 
P. (2022). An IoT based Low-cost Weather 
Monitoring System for Smart Farming. Agricultural 
Science Digest-A Research Journal, 42(4), 393-399. 

 
Kanesh, S., Narmilan, A., Rifai Kariapper, A., Sabraz, 
N., & Jeyapraba, S. (2022). Farmers‟ perception on 
precision farming technologies: A novel approach. 
Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics 77 (2), 264-276 

 
Nishanthan, G., Navarathne, S. B., & Dissanayake, D. 
C. T. (2022). Impact of Different Combinations of 
Processing Steps on Product Quality and Proximate 
Composition of Bêche-de-mer: A Case Study from Sri 
Lanka. International journal of food science, 2022. 

 
Fajila, M. N. F., & Yusof, Y. Hybrid Gene Selection 
with Mutable Firefly Algorithm for Feature Selection 
in Cancer Classification. International Journal of 
Intelligent Engineering and Systems, 15 (3), 24-35 

 
Dayananda, L. P. S. S. K., Narmilan, A., & Pirapuraj, 
P. (2022). An IoT based Low-cost Weather 
Monitoring System for Smart Farming. Agricultural 
Science Digest-A Research Journal, 42(4), 393-399. 

 
Dayananda, L. P. S. S. K., Narmilan, A., & Pirapuraj, 
P. (2022). An IoT based Low-cost Weather 
Monitoring System for Smart Farming. Agricultural 
Science Digest-A Research Journal, 42(4), 393-399. 

 
 

Papers published in non-indexed Journals 
 

Thariq, M. M., Silva, P. M. R., & Rikasa, A. M. (2022). 
Comparative study of physical egg quality 
characteristics of Naked neck and Bovans chicken in 
diverse ages in coastal areas of Ampara district, Sri 
Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, SEUSL. 

 
Musthafa, M. M., Sánchez-Reyes, U. J., & Abdullah, 
F. (2022). “How beetle diversity changes across years 
at Pangkor Island, Malaysia”. Malaysian Forester 2022, 
85 (1): 78 – 95. 

 
Kumara, A. T., Muhandiram, A. M. K. G., GKMMK, 
R., Ayeshmanthi, M. B., Sarathchandra, S. R., & 
Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022).” Association between 
temperature and life table development of fall 
armyworm Spodoptera frugiperda under control 
condition”, Research square. 

 
Sarathchandra, S. R., Hennayake, K. P. S. D., 
Jayaweera, M. P. H. K., Nugaliyadde, L., 
Hemachandra, K. S., & Kumara, A. D. N. T. (2022). 
“Assessment of Grain Preference Among Selected 
Rice Varieties by Field Rat, Bandicota bengalensis 

and House Rat, Rattus rattus in Sri Lanka”. Tropical 
Agricultural Research, 33(3), 280-288. 

 
Wasanthika, H. M. N., Edirimanna, I. C. S., Nashath, 
M. N. F., Mubarak, A. N. M., & Kumara, A. D. N. T. 
(2022). “Effect of seed pelleting on the growth and 
yield performance of sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) 
Cultivation”. Sri Lanka Journal of Technology 3 (1), 24-
29, FT, SEUSL. 

 
Yapa, S. W. W., Samaranayake, B. N., Kumara, A. D. 
N. T., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022). “Comparison of 
growth and yield performances of horsegram 
(Macrotyloma uniflorum L.) Supplemented with 
organic and inorganic fertilizers”.  Sri Lanka Journal of 
Technology 3 (1), 18-23 FT, SEUSL 

 
Dayananda, L. G. H., Mohamed Thariq, M. G., & 
Rifath, M. R. (2022).” Study of stray cattle problems 
in the Kalmunai regional health division”. Faculty of 
Arts and Culture, South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

 
Dissanayakaa, D. M. S. U. K., Thariqa, M. M., & 
Rifatha, M. R. A. (2022). Investigation of disposal 
methods of cattle farming waste in Ampara 
district. Journal of Science, FAS, SEUSL, 3(01), 01-09. 

 
Mubarak, A. N. M., Musthapha, M., Roshana, M. R., 
& Kumara, A. D. N. T. (2022). Influence of canopy 
architecture on the light interception, photosynthetic 
and biomass productivity in irrigated elite Sri 
Lankan rice varieties. The Journal of Agricultural 
Science. Sri Lanka. 17, No 1, January 2022. Pp 148-160. 

 

Rajan, R., Salil, M., Baby, B., & Prasannan, A. (2019). 
Density-based real-time traffic control system using 
image processing and emergency vehicle clearance 
using mat lab. International Research Journal of 
Engineering and Technology (IRJET). 

 
 

Full Papers published in Conference Proceedings 
 

Jesfar, A. B. M., Mohamed Thariq, M. G., & 
Mowjood, M. I. M. (2022). Characterization of the 
drinking water sludge for agricultural usage. 
2nd International Conference on Science and Technology. 

 
Ayeshmanthi, M. B., Ranaweera, G. K. M. M. K., 
Kumara, A. D. N. T., Muhandiram, A. M. K. G., & 
Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022). “Do larval frass volatiles 
deter oviposition behaviour of fall armyworm 
(Spodoptera frugiperda JE Smith) (Lepidoptera: 
Noctuidae)?” AgInsight-2022, Faculty of Agricultural 
Sciences: Sabaragamuwa University of Sri Lanka. 

 
Muhandiram, A. M. K. G., Ranaweera, G. K. M. M. 
K., Kumara, A. D. N. T., Ayeshmanthi, M. B., & 
Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022). “Effects of different 
ambient temperatures for growth and development 
of fall armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda (Smith)”. 
AgInsight-2022, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences: 
Sabaragamuwa University of Sri Lanka. 
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Razeeth, S., Kariapper, R. K. A. R., Pirpuraj, P., 
Nafrees, A. C. M., & Rizan, M. Z. M. (2022). 
Understanding the Identity of a COVID-19 Suspect 
or Victim through the use of Google Glass, 2nd 
International Conference on Science and Technology, 
Faculty of Technology, South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka. 

 
Kodikara, C. M., Weerasekara, D., Sujanthika, V., 
Hettiarachchi, P., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022). 
Analysis of leaf characteristics of local moringa 
(moringa oleifera lam.) Germplasms in Sri Lanka. 
2nd International Conference on Science and Technology, 
Faculty of Technology, South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka. 

 
Shafana, A. R. F., Nihla, M. I. F., Musfira, A. F., & 
Naja, M. M. F. (2022). Comparative analysis of 
machine learning algorithms along with lexical 
analyzers for sentiment analysis in Tamil Language, 
10th International Symposium–2022. South Eastern 
University of Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka. 

 
Madurapperuma, I. H., Shafana, M. S., & Sabani, M. 
J. A. (2022). State-of-art frameworks for front-end 
and back-end web development,  2nd International 
Conference on Science and Technology, Faculty of 
Technology, South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

 
Samarasinghe, K. W. A. H., Ahamed Sabani, M. J., & 
Shafana, M. S. (2022). Cyberbullying behaviors in 
anonymous social network, 2nd International 
Conference on Science and Technology, Faculty of 
Technology, South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

 
Prabhashi, H. K. D., Shafana, M. S., & Ahamed 
Sabani, M. J. (2022). Comparative analysis of 
functional test automation tools. 2nd International 
Conference on Science and Technology, Faculty of 
Technology, South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 
Boralessa, G. W. Y. S., Shafana, M. S., Ragel, R. G., & 
Ahamed Sabani, M. (2022). Recommender systems, 
their approaches and challenges: a literature review. 
10th International Symposium–2022. South Eastern 
University of Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka. 

 
P.H. Kehelella M.I. Fathima Nihla, W.A.D.A. 
Wicrama Arachchi, K.G. Dilini Subhani, D.M.I.K. 
Dissanayaka, W.T. Sanduni, W.H. Rankothge, P.N. 
Wariyapperuma.(2022, March). ANDTi Virtual 
Assistant. In 2022 2nd International Conference on 
Image Processing and Robotics (ICIPRob) (pp. 1-6). 
IEEE. 

 
Rifath, M. R. A., Thariq, M. G. M., Rihan, M. H., 
Mubarak, A. N. M., Kumara, A. D. N. T., Musthafa, 
M. M., & Majeed, U. L. A. (2022).” Advances and 
innovations in sustainable management of maize 
storage pests to supply safe food and feed”. National 
Science and Technology Commission, Sri Lanka. 

 

Dissanayake, C.S., Keerthirathna, P.S., Haleem, M. 
A.,Kumara, W.G.C.W.,& Hirshan, R.(2022). Design 
and Prototyping of High Gain Horn Antennas for 
Imaging Radar. The 2022 International Conference on 
Radar, Antenna, Microwave, Electronics and 
Telecommunications (ICRAMET)  

 
Jayakodi, J. A. L. P., Jayamali, G. G. S. D., Hirshan, 
R., Aashiq, M. N. M., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2022, 
September). Creating a Sri Lankan Micro-Emotion 
Dataset for a Robust Micro-Expression Recognition 
System. In 2022 International Research Conference on 
Smart Computing and Systems Engineering 
(SCSE) (Vol. 5, pp. 102-107). IEEE. 

 
Kumara, M.C.T., Pushpakumari, P.S.C., Udhyani, 
H.P.S.J.,  Aashiq, M.N.M., Hirshan, R., & Kumara, 
W.G.C.W. (2022). Image Enhancement Based CNN 
Approach to Covid-19 Diagnosis Using Chest X-ray 
Images. 4th IEEE Eurasia Conference on Biomedical 
Engineering, Healthcare and Sustainability 2022 
(ECBIOS 2022) (U) Biomedical diagnostic techniques. 

 
Kariapper, R. K. A. R., & Nawaz, S. S. (2022, March). 
Smart Technologies to Reduce the Spreading of 
COVID-19: A Survey Study.  International Conference 
on Intelligent Vision and Computing (ICIVC 2021) (pp. 
250-265). Cham: Springer International Publishing. 

 
Zhang, T., Wen, L., & Haleem, S. (2022). “Illustration 
Art Design System Based on VR Virtual Reality 
Technology”. The 4th International Conference on 
Multi-modal Information Analytics (ICMMIA 2022), 
Volume 1 (pp. 594-601). Cham: Springer International 
Publishing. 

 
Himasha, P. S. S., Millawithanachchi, M. C., Nashath, 
M. N. F., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022, March). 
Screening of Rice Germplasms for Superior Root, 
Shoot Morphologies and Dry Matter Productivity 
Under Anaerobic Conditions In Sri Lanka. 10th Ysf 
Symposium. 

 
Isanka, K. P. K., Himaya, S. M. M. S., Mubarak, A. N. 
M., & Rasmiya, S. L. (2022, March). Short term effects 
of straw management practices on the physico-
chemical soil properties, 10th ysf symposium. 

 
Sarathchandra, S. R., Jayaweera, M. P. H. K., 
Hennayake, K. P. S. D., Kumara, A. D. N. T., 
Nugaliyadde, L., & Hemachandra, K. S. (2022, 
March). “Evaluation of Different Rice Varieties For 
Food Preference Habit of Lesser Bandicoot, 
Bandicotabengalensis under Controlled 
Conditions”, 10th ysf symposium (p. 275). 

 
Amalka, P. H. G. D., Thariq, M. G. M., & Akram, A. 
T. A. (2022, March). “Investigation of Ear 
Morphology and Its Relationship With Growth 
Parameters in Local Goats”, 10th ysf symposium (p. 
78). 
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Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 
 

Salindi, S., Thariq, M., & Nikzaad, M. (2022). “A 
study on different poultry farming systems in 
Ampara district-Sri Lanka”. 5th National Symposium 
on Agriculture (5th NSA 2022), Faculty of Agriculture, 
Eastern University, Sri Lanka 

 
Abeysinghe, Y., Thariq,  M., & Nikzaad,  M.  (2022). 
“Study of goat farming systems in Ampara district”,  
International Symposium on Agriculture and 
Environment ; 2022 (ISAE 2022), Faculty of Agriculture, 
University of Ruhuna. 

 
Narmilan, A., Asmath, A. M. M., Asmiya, A., & 
Santhirakumar, S. (2022). Factors affecting climate 
change adaptation among paddy farmers in coastal 
area of Ampara district. 5th National Symposium on 
Agriculture 2022, Faculty of Agriculture Eastern 
University, Sri Lanka. 

 
Mohamed Thariq, M. G., & Ahamed Rifath, M. R. 
(2022). Cost and Benefits of Climate Resilient 
Livestock Production in Tropics: A Conceptual 
Analysis for Adaptation Techniques. 8th International 
Conference on Dry Zone Agriculture 2022 Faculty of 
Agriculture, University of Jaffna, Sri Lanka. 

 
Afreen, S. M. M. S., Muneeb, M. M., Rajavarthani, S., 
& Roshanth, S. N. (2022). A study on prevalence of 
iron deficiency anaemia among children at base 
hospital Kalmunai north, Ampara. 11th Annual 
Science Research Session, FAS, SEUSL. 

 
Books Published 

 
Raheem, F., & Iqbal, N., (2022), Artificial Intelligence 
and Machine Learning for the Industrial Internet of 
Things (IIoT). In Industrial Internet of Things (pp. 1-
20). CRC Press. 

 
Raheem, F., & Iqbal, N., (2022), Artificial Intelligence 
and Machine Learning for the Industrial Internet of 
Things (IIoT).  In Industrial Internet of Things (pp. 1-
20). CRC Press. 

 
 

Book Chapters Published 
 

Yusof, Y., & Fajila, F. (2022). Artificial Intelligence 
and Machine Learning in Education, In Digital 
Transformation for the University of the Future, 2022, pp 
121-141 from World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd. 

 
Kumara, A. D. N. T., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2022). 
Advances, Prospects and Limitations of Genetic 
Tools for Pest Management Strategies in Sri Lanka. 
In Genetic Methods and Tools for Managing Crop Pests 
(pp. 285-302). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore. 

 
Marikkar, N., & Musthafa, M. M. (2022). The 
potential of coconut by-products to foster food 
security and sustainability in Sri Lanka. In The Food 
Security, Biodiversity, and Climate Nexus (pp. 251-266). 
Cham: Springer International Publishing. 

Najim, M. M. M., Sujirtha, V., Musthafa, M. M., Baig, 
M. B., & Straquadine, G. S. (2022). “Managing 
Climate Change Impacts on Food Production and 
Security in Sri Lanka”: The Importance of Climate-
Smart Agriculture. Food Security and Climate-Smart 
Food Systems (pp. 99-115). Springer, Cham. 

 
Narmilan, A., Asmath, A. M. M., & Puvanitha, N. 
(2022). Impact Assessment and Adaptation Options 
for Climatic Change in Paddy Cultivation: A Case 
Study in Ampara District, Sri Lanka.  In Extreme 
Natural Events: Sustainable Solutions for Developing 
Countries (pp. 415-430). Singapore: Springer Nature 
Singapore.  

 
Haleem, S. L. A. (2022). “A Secured Node 
Authentication and Access Control Model for IoT 
Smart Home Using Double-Hashed Unique Labeled 
Key-Based Validation”. Cognitive Computing Models 
in Communication Systems, 199. 

 
 

LIBRARY 
 

Papers published in non-indexed Journals 
 

Mashroofa, M.M., 2022. Contribution of academic 
libraries towards sustainable development goals. 
Annals of Library and Information Studies 69 (1), 51-58 

 
 

Full Papers published in Conference Proceedings 
 

Sajeer, S.L.M., (2022), Monitoring Students In/ Out 
Management Using A Smart System At South 
Eastern University Of Sri Lanka Main Librar, 67th 
Annual Conference of Indian Library Association. 

 
Mashroofa, D.M., 2022. Transforming the libraries to 
adapt global changes through smart library system. 
Etakam Research Conference – 2022. 
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4.2 Information of International Staff who visited SEUSL in 2022 

Table 4.2: Details of international Staff visited (or virtually attended) for Undergraduate 

Teaching/Postgraduate Teaching/ Research/Symposium/Workshop in the year 2022 are shown below. 

Faculty Name of the Programme   Country No. of Staff 

FAC Guest Lecturer Programme/TESL London 01 

FMC Key Notes Speech/AIRC 2021 India 01 

FIA 9th International Symposium/FIA Malaysia 01 

 
 

4.3 Knowledge Dissemination to the General Public during the Year 2022 

Table 4.3: Details Knowledge Dissemination to the General Public during the Year-2022 

Faculty/ 
Divisio
n 

Category and Title of the Programme 
(workshops/ training programmes/field 
demonstrations/media programmes) 

Number 
particip
ated 

Target Group   

Conducting training programmes/ field demonstrations 

Library 
Conducted NACLIS of SLLA as one of the 
Organizing Committee & Editorial Board 
Member  

150 
Local & 
International LIS 
community  

Organizing exhibitions /Public performences 

Library 
Gender Equality Today for Sustainable 
Development 

300 

University 
communities, 
Women 
Development 
Officers of 
Divisional 
Secretariates of 
Ampara district 

Workshops/ Webinars 

Library Presentation of Research 45 Members of 
SLLA 

Other   

Library 

First talk: Stress Free Future held on 16th 
March 2022.  
(SEUSL in collaboration with the RDHS, 
Kalmunai conducted Better Health Lecture 
Series programme to educate public health of 
the community through a series of health 
talk.) 

200 

Public, 
Undergraduates 
and staff of 
SEUSL 

South Eastern Regional Library & 
Information Network (SERLIN) held on 
25.10.2022  (South Eastern Regional Library 
& Information Network (SERLIN) was 
launched as one of the community outreach 
programme with the presence of officials 
from Local Government, Zonal Education 
Office and Colleges) 

250 

Public 
Librarians, 
School and 
College 
Librarian 
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4.4 Awards Received 

Table 4.4: Details of Awards Received during the year 2022 

Award 
category 

Name of the 
Award 

National/ 
International 

Description of the Award 
Name of the 
awardee and 
country 

Name/s of the recipient 

Research 
NRC Merit 
Award 

National - 
National 
Research Council 

T. Jaseetharan, .A.K.L.Dissanayake, 
G.K.R.Senadeera,C.A.Thottawathage/ FAS 

Research 
Senate 
Honours 

National 
For High Impact research 
Publication 

SEUSL, 
Sri Lanka 

Dr. MIS. Safeena /FAS 

Research Senate National  High Impacts Journal  
SEUSL, 
 Sri Lanka 

Dr. Muneeb M. Mustafa,  Mrs. M.B.F. 
Jamziya, Mrs. S.L. Rasmiya Begum, Dr. 
M.G.M. Thariq, Dr. A.N.M. Mubarak, Dr. 
ADNT. Kumara/FT 

Research 
Vice 
chanceller 
Award 

National  High Grand for Projects  
Dr. Muneeb M. Mustafa, Dr. U.L. Abdul 
Majeed, Dr. M.G.M. Thariq, Dr. A.N.M. 
Mubarak, Dr. ADNT. Kumara/FT 

Community 
Projects 

University 
of Malaya 

International 

Virtual Mobility Project 
Grant of Association of 
Commonwealth 
Universities 

University of 
Malaya 
Malaysia 

Prof. MM. Fazil – Project Leader 
Prof. A.Rameez- Project Director 
Prof. MAM. Rameez – Project Assistant, 
Mr.MAM.Fowsar – project Assistant/FAC 

Physical Education Unit 

 Champion National Inter University Football 
University 
football Team 

MJ. Rosan Ahamed, S. Asker, H. Anfal 
Ahamed, K. Rimon, MHM. Mufri, T. 
Musthak Ahamed, NM. Afrath, M.Thanujan. 
S. Thusanthan, NM. Sahan, MNM. Farhan, 
MAM. Absar, HM. Sameer Mohamed, AR. 
Imran, RM. Rihan, A.Thasneem Ahamed, 
MIM. Alfar, JM. Abrar, AM.Aman, MJM. 
Jamsith, NM. Musthak, MIM. Sifnas. 
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 Champion National Inter University Road race 
University Road 
race Team 

M. Thanujan, GWC. Biyanka Weerawardana, 
RM. Besil Benart, IPPM. Tharanga, HBM. 
Lankathilaka. JGA.Vibhoositha, SAIC. Perera 

 2 nd Place National Inter University Athletic 
Inter University 
Athletic 

GWC. Biyanka Weerawardana 

 3 rd Place National Inter University Karate 
Inter University 
Karate 

PPGJMCIM. Rajakaruna 

        

 

4.5 Overseas fellowships, Scholorships /Awards received for professional development  

Table 4.5: Details of Overseas fellowships, Scholorships /Awards received for professional development (Seminar / Workshops / Staff Development / Training 

/ Short cources) of Academic and administrative staff in 2022 

S.No. 

Faculty/Department/ Division/Unit 

Designation 

Type of Programme 
No. of 
Staff 

received  

(Seminar/Workshops/Staff 
Development/Training/Short 

Courses …etc) Faculty Faculty 

1 

Faculty of 
Engineering [FE] 

Dept. of Mechanical 
Engineering 

Professor in Mechanical 
Engineering 

Training  

 
06 

2 
Lecturer (Unconfirmed) in 
Mechanical Engineering 

Training  

3 Dept. of Electrical and 
Telecommunication 
Engineering 

Senior Lecturer Gr.II in Electrical 
Engineering (01 Staff) 

Workshop 

4 Workshop 

5 Conference  

6 Dept. of Civil Engineering 
Lecturer (Prob.) in Civil 
Engineering 

Workshop 

7 
Dept. of Computer Science and 
Engineering 

Senior Lecturer Gr.II in Computer 
Engineering 

Workshop 

8 Dept. of Civil Engineering 
Senior Lecturer Gr.II in Civil 
Engineering 

Workshop 
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9 
Faculty of Arts and 
Culture 

Dept. of Languages 
Senior Lecture Gr.II in Hindu 
Civilization. 

Conference  01 

10 
Faculty of 
Technology  

Dept. of ICT 
Senior Lecture Gr.II in ICT. 

(02 staffs) 
Fellowship  02 

11 Faculty of 
Management and 
Commerce  

Dept. of Marketing 
Management  

Professor in Marketing 
Management 

Conference  

02 

12 
Dept. of Management and 

Information Technology 
Professor of MIT Training  

 

 

4.6 Details of MOUs signed with Foreign HEIs/Research Institutions/Donor Agencies in 2022 

Table 4.6: Details of MOUs signed with Foreign HEIs/Research Institutions/Donor Agencies in 2022 

University/ 
Faculty 

Role of the Activity  
(Student exchange/Staff exchange/ Research Project/Training/facilities …..etc) Country 

Indian Academic 
Researchers‟ 
Association 
(IARA), India    

27th day of 
September 2022 

 

 Carrying out joint research supervison for Undegraduate & Master degrees, and Doctorate degree (PhD). 

 Facilitating to find Post-doc opportunities for Ph.D. holders. 

 To strengthen the research & innovation, both parties jointly work to identify 
indicators/parameters/current issues by sharing the academic expertise of the faculty memebrs & 
research scholars in their respective fields.     

 Academic staff of both parties jointly work on research activities and publication of their research 
findings. In order to do that, form a joint author groups for writing textbook, monograph, and articles. 

 Participation in each other academic/social community activities like jointly conducting international 
symposium, scientific conferences, conducing language program, cultural events, and executing 
curriculamn development & evaluation 

 India 

 K.S.R College of 
Arts & Science for 
Women, India 

24th day of 

 Facilitating to exchange staff and students including research scholars between both parties for a limited 
period of time for the purpose of collaborative teaching, training, research & innovation, and other 
academic activities in accordance with their respective field.    

 Both parties work closely to promote and develop student centered learning, and exchange resources 

 India 
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November 2022 like teaching aid, text book (online sources) necessary for educational development of the university. 

 Carrying out joint research supervison for Undegraduate & Master degrees, and Doctorate degree (PhD). 

 To strengthen the research & innovation, both parties jointly work to identify 
indicators/parameters/current issues by sharing the academic expertise of the faculty memebrs & 
research scholars in their respective fields.     

 Academic staff of both parties jointly work on research activities and publication of their research 
findings. In order to do that, form a joint author groups for writing textbook, monograph, and articles.   

 Jointly organizing industrial/practical training program for undergdauate students, planning field 
visit/educational tour for postgraduate students, and providing resource person to conduct orientation 
program for first year students. 

 Facilitating to conduct induction program for probationary Lecturers, seminars, wokshops and short 
term training on research activities for undergraduate & postgraduate students as well as to the 
academic staff for their continuous professional development in the relevant fields of teaching & 
reserach.  

 Participation in each other academic/social community activities like jointly conducting international 
symposium, scientific conferences, conducing language program, cultural events, and executing 
curriculamn development & evaluation. 

Chuvash I. 
Yakovlev State 
Pedagogical 
University 
 
29th Day of 
December 2022 

 Conducting joint activities to improve the training of specialists, bachelors, masters and postgraduates at 
the University (conferences, seminars, exhibitions, Olympiads, creative projects, participation in the 
defense of final qualifying papers, etc.). 

 Preparation and publication of joint printed materials. 

 Promotion of professional development (internship) of the teaching staff and research and teaching staff. 

 Exchange of experience in teaching, research, creative and educational work of the teaching staff. 

 Provision of advisory assistance in generalizing the experience of teachers, in drawing up innovative 
curricula, preparing recommendations, scientific articles, study guides and other scientific and 
pedagogical activities. 

 Russia 
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4.7 Academic, Academic Supportive and Administrative staff registerd for 

postgraduate degrees 

Table 4.7: Details of Academic and Administrative staff registerd for postgraduate degrees (Local and 

Forign in 2022) 

Faculty/ 
Department 

Name of Staff and 
Designation 

Postgraduat
e Degree 

Source of 
Funding 

Country 

FAS Ms. R. Thusanthani 
Lecturer (Prob) in Mathematics 

M.Sc. in 
Mathematic
s 

Self 
financing 

Canada 

FAC Mr.MTA.Azhar 
Senior Assistant Registrar 

M.Phil in 
HRM 

University Sri Lanka 

FE 
Mrs.F.Rehana Munas 
Senior Lecturer Gr.II in Mechanical 
Engineering  

PhD. in 
Mechanical 
Engineering 

Financing by 
OWSD 
Postgraduat
e Fellowship 

Malaysia 

Stores and 
Supplies 
Division 

Mr.SH.Safeek 
Assistant Bursar 

MBA University Sri Lanka 

Payment 
Division 

Mr.SLM.Thahir 
Assistant Bursar 

CMA 
Professional 

University 

CMA 
Australia 
Through Sri 
Lanka 
Branch 

Fixed Assets 
Management 
and 
Reporting 
Division 

Mr.SM.Saheeth 
Assistant Bursar 

MBA University Sri Lanka 

FIA 

Mr.S.Prashanth 
Assistant Registrar 

MBA University Sri Lanka 

Mrs. MS. Fathima Sulaiha 
Lecturer (Prob) in Islamic Banking & 
Finance 

PhD in 
Islamic 
Banking 

Self  
Financing 

Malaysia 

Mrs.MS.Ismiya Begum 
Lecturer (Prob) in Islamic Thought & 
Civilization 

Master of 
Islamic 
Studies 

Self 
Financing 

Malaysia 

Examination 
Division 

Mr.MACM.Ramees 
Deputy Registrar 

M.Phil in 
HRM 

University Sri Lanka 

FT Mrs.SL.Rasmiya Begum 
Lecturer (Prob) 

M.Phil in 
Agricultural 
and 
Biosystems 
Engineering 

Self 
Financing 

Sri Lanka 
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4.8 Academic, Academic Supportive and Administrative Staff who 

completed the Postgraduate qualification 

Table 4.8: Details of Academic, Academic Supportive and Administrative Staff who completed the 

relevant Postgraduate qualification in 2022 

Faculty/ 
Department/ 
Division 

Name of the Staff and  
Designation 

Postgraduate 
Degree 

Country 

FAS Mrs.R.Archsana 
Assistant Registrar 

MBA 
Sri 

Lanka 
 

4.9  Details of Programmes, Seminars & Workshops 

Table 4.9: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Faculties and 
Libraries of SEUSL in 2022. 

 

Table 4.10: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Career Guidance 

Unit (CGU) of SEUSL in 2022. 
 

Faculty 

Category and Title of the 
Programme (workshops/ training 
programmes/field demonstrations / 
media programmes) 

Number 
participated 

Target Group   Date 

Workshops  

Library 

Book Donation Programme  
( SEUSL Libraries in Collaboration 
with YM Trust Australia donated a 
collection of 2399 books  to 25 
School, College and Public libraries 

in the Ampara District) 

250 
Public Librarians, 
School and College 
Librarian 

20.11.2022 

No Title of the programme 
No. of 
Participants 

Target group Date 

Workshops 

01 
Enlighten Your Foreign Careers 
and Higher Studies 

643 All Undergraduates 20.08.2022 

02 
“Legal Literacy”: A Guidance to 
Become A Lawyer in Sri Lanka 

893 
1st year students 

A
ll

 

fa
cu

lt
ie

s 03.09.2022 

03 World of Work 409 04.09.2022 

04 Preparative Session (SLAS) 122 Fresh Graduates 06.03.2022 

05 Career Planning 125 
2nd year 
students 

FIA 01.01.2022 

06 
Ethical Behavior in the Digital 
Learning and E- Classroom 

216 1st year students FIA 26.02.2022 

07 
How to prepare and write your 
examination 

190 1st year students FIA 27.02.2022 

08 
Developing presentation skills & 
Delivering an effective 
presentation 

80 
2nd year 
students 

FIA 05.03.2022 

09 
Challenges and prospects of 
youth in the post COVID-19 
scenario 

188 
2nd year 
students 

FIA 06.03.2022 

10 Career Development and 93 3rd and 4th year FIA 12.03.2022 
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Preparing for 
the Job Market 

students 

11 
Mental and psychological effects 
of covid 19 

102 
3rd & 4th year 
students 

FIA 19.03.2022 

12 Time Management 134 
2nd year 
students 

FIA 26.03.2022 

13 Emotional Intelligence 51 FIA 28.05.2022 

14 Career Planning 125 FIA 01.01.2022 

15 
Career Exploration (How earn 
through online) 

239 
3rd & 4th year 
students 

FIA 20.12.2022 

16 Personal SWOT Analysis 44 
2nd year 
students 

FAC 28.04.2022 

17 
Early Preparation for World of 
Work 

120 FAC 28.05.2022 

18 Goal Setting 487 
1st year 
students  

FAC 03.09.2022 

19 
Stay Motivated Succeed in Your 
Career 

85 
2nd  year 
students 

FAC 27.08.2022 

20 
Online Learning and Virtual 
Communication 

538 1st year students FAC 10.09.2022 

21 The Path to Wining the Dream Job 534 1st year students FAC 11.12.2022 

22 Improve Positive Attitude 509 
2nd year 
students 

FAC 18.12.2022 

23 
Career Exploration (How earn 
through online) 

239 
3rd & 4th year 
students 

FAC 20.12.2022 

24 
Human Resources for New 
Norms of Work 

232 
All students of 
FMC 

FAC 16.03.2022 

25 Target Your Career 342 1st year students FMC 11.09.2022 

26 How to Improve Memory 131 1st year students FMC 19.09.2022 

27 Developing Personal Vision 564 1st year students FMC 17.11.2022 

28 
Gateway to the Job Training and 
Foreign Career Opportunities 

196 
3rd & 4th year 
students 

FMC 12.11.2022 

29 Positive Attitude and Motivation 252 
2nd year 
students 

FMC 06.12.2022 

30 Facing Interview 152 
3rd year 
students 

FAS 12.03.2022 

31 
Career Exploration and Search 
Techniques 

148 FAS 12.03.2022 

32 Goal Setting 245 1st year students FAS 04.09.2022 

33 How to Improve Memory 131 1st year students FAS 19.09.2022 

34 Foreign Career Exploration 167 
3rd & 4th year 
student 

FAS 16.10.2022 

35 Positive Attitude and Motivation 252 2nd year 
students 

FAS 06.12.2022 

36 Team Conflict & Problem Solving 177 FAS 17.12.2022 

37 Developing Personal Vision 87 1st year students FT 20.09.2022 

38 Goal Setting 334 1st year students FT 11.12.2022 

39 Improve Positive Attitude 192 
2nd year 
students 

FT 17.12.2022 

40 Developing Personal Vision 88 1st year students FE 29.09.2022 

41 Team Conflict & Problem Solving 177 
2nd year 
students 

FE 17.12.2022 

42 
Career Exploration and Search 
Techniques 

208 EDP 02.10.2022 

43 Career Planning 1050 1st year students EDP 19.09.2022 

44 Improve Positive Attitude 134 2nd year student EDP 16.11.2022 

45 Personal Development 182 
3rd year 
students 

EDP 25.11.2022 

46 
Emerging Trends of World of 
Work 

102 EDP 02.12.2022 

47 Developing Soft Skills 817 1st year students EDP 16.12.2022 

Orientation Programme 

48 Stress Management 129  1st year students FMC 05.07.2022 

49 Goal Setting 51 1st year students FMC 27.06.2022 
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50 
Undergraduates and World of 
Work 

133 1st year students FMC 05.07.2022 

51 Personal Development 129 1st year students FMC 06.07.2022 

Short Term Programme in Counselling 

52 
Introduction to Guidance and 
Counselling 

201 

2nd year students 

A
ll

 F
a

cu
lt

ie
s 

18.06.2022 

53 
Introduction to counselling 
skills 

189 27.06.2022 

54 Personality Development 154 01.07.2022 

55 
Improve Memory Power for 
Effective Learning 

136 15.07.2022 

56 Managing Emotions 90 23.07.2022 

Short Term Programme in Soft Skills 

57 Effective Leadership Skills 177 

3rd & 4th year 
students 

A
ll

 

F
a

cu
lt

ie
s 

13.08.2022 

58 Choose a Professional Attitude   74 21.08.2022 

59 Conflict Management 181 24.08.2022 

60 Work Ethics 77 28.08.2022 

61 Critical Thinking 239 02.09.2022 

Short Term Programme in Communication Skills 

62 Communication Process 993 

1st year students 

A
ll

 F
a

cu
lt

ie
s 

08.10.2022 

63 Presentation Skills 762 15.10.2022 

64 Active Listening 627 16.10.2022 

65 Team Work 662 22.10.2022 

66 Dealing with Aggression 364 23.10.2022 

67 Interpersonal Skills 363 30.10.2022 

68 Negotiating Skills 856 05.11.2022 

69 Creative Problem Solving 1065 05.11.2022 

Volunteer Programme 

70 Smart Study Techniques 456 All Undergraduates 

A
ll

 F
a

cu
lt

ie
s 

19.06.2022 

71 
Enlighten Your Foreign Careers 
and Higher Studies 

643 All Undergraduates 20.08.2022 

72 
“Legal Literacy”: A Guidance to 
Become A Lawyer in Sri Lanka 

893 1st year students 03.09.2022 

73 World of work 409 1st year students 04.09.2022 

74 Be Your Own Boss 163 All Undergraduates 05.07.2022 

75 
Career Exploration and Search 
Techniques 

208 2nd Year students EDP 02.10.2022 

76 
Gateway to the Job Training 
and Foreign Career 
Opportunities 

196 3rd & 4th year students FMC 12.11.2022 

77 
How to Prepare and Write Your 
Examination 

190 1st year students FIS 
27.02.2022 
 

78 
Developing Presentation skills 
& Delivering an Effective 
Presentation 

80 2nd year students FIA 05.03.2022 

79 
Career Development and 
Preparing for 
the Job Market 

93 
3rd and 4th year 
students 

FIA 12.03.2022 

80 Emotional Intelligence 51 2nd year students FIA 28.05.2022 

Entrepreneurship Programme   

81 
Career Guidance-Webinar 
Session 

168 1st year students FIA 24.02.2022 

82 
Career Exploration (How earn 
through online) 

239 

3rd & 4th year students 

FIA 20.12.2022 

83 
Career Exploration (How earn 
through online) 

239 FIA 20.12.2022 

84 
How to become an 
entrepreneur 

168 FIA 26.09.2022 

85 Career Exploration (How earn 239 FAC 20.12.2022 
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Table 4.11: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Staff Development 
Centre (SDC) of SEUSL in 2022. 

 

Sponsored Activities of SDC 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

through online) 

86 
Awareness Programme For 
Undergraduates 
Entrepreneurship 

80 2nd year students FAC 06.08.2022 

(Upadhidari Vyavasayake Udanaya-2022) 

87 
How to Write Your Business 
Plan- Part-I 

35 

2nd year students 

A
ll

 F
a

cu
lt

ie
s 

07.08.2022 

88 
How to Write Your Business 
Plan- Part-II 

40 11.08.2022 

89 
How to Write Your Business 
Plan- Part-III 

17 12.08.2022 

90 
How to Write Your Business 
Plan- Part-IV 
(Problem Solving Session) 

28 15.08.2022 

91 

Entrepreneurship and 
Motivation Programme  
(How to Become an 
Entrepreneur) 

168 3rd & 4th year students 26.09.2022 

A. Local Workshop/ Seminar/ Training Programme/ Short cources  

S/N Programme 
No of 
Participant/s 

Target group 
Date 

Training Programme  

01. 
Induction Programme for Academic Staff - 2022 - Batch - 

V 
25 

Academic Staff 

on Probation/ 

Unconfirmed  

04.03.2022 

(Commenceme

nt) 16.08.2022 

(Certificate 

Awarding 

Coaching Seminar  

02. 

Coaching Seminar to prepare for written examination for 

promotion of Management Assistant/Management 

Assistant (Shroff/Book Keeping/Store Keeping)  from 

Grade III to Grade II - 2022  

23 
Non Academic 

Staff (Clerical & 

Allied) 

19, 20, 26 & 

27 February 

2022 

(04 Days) 

03. 
Coaching Seminar to prepare for Written Examination 

for Appointment of Primary Grades Employees to the 

post of Management Assistant Gr. III – 2021 

17 
Primary Level 

Employees (Non 

Academic Staff) 

27.03.2022 

and 

02.04.2022  

04. 
Coaching Seminar to prepare for written examination for 

Confirmation of Management Assistants, Grade III 
27 

Management 

Assistants, 

Grade III / 

Management 

Assistants, 

Grade III (Non 

Academic Staff) 

27.11.2022 

Workshop 

05. 
Capacity Development Programme for Administrative 

Staff of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 
30 

Administrative 

Staff  

03.03.2022 

Preparatory session 

06. 
Preparatory session on tips for successfully facing the 

interview 
10 

Primary Level 

Employees (Non 

Academic Staff) 

20.10.2022 
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Table 4.12: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Centre for Gender 

Equivalnce and Equity (CGEE) of SEUSL in 2022. 

 
 

Table 4.13 Details of Sports activities conducted during 2022  

 

 

  

Title of the Programme 
Number 

Participated 
Target group Date 

Women‟s Day Celebration 

Gender Equality Today for a Sustainable 
Tomorrow 

330 

University staff, All faculty students, 
Women Development Officers from 
DS Offices, Women activists from 
NGOs & INGOs of Ampara district 

28.03.2022 

Panel Discussion 

Gender Equality Today for a Sustainable 
Tomorrow:  Environmental aspect, 
Technological aspect, Women 
enterpreneurial aspect, Sustainable 
consumption, & Social Aspect 

330 

University staff, All faculty students, 
Women Development Officers from 
DS Offices, Women activists from 
NGOs & INGOs of Ampara district 

28.03.2022 

Freshers Orientation 

An informative session on Gender Equity & 
Equality by Director/GEE 

215 Freshers, Faculty of Arts & Culture 05.06.2022 

Gender Equity and Equality 105 Freshers of FMC 23.06.2022 

Conscious Raising programme on gender 
Equity & Equality 

103 Freshers FAS 14.07.2022 

Pre-Academic Programme 

Gender Equity and Equality 120 Freshers, Faculty of Engineering 29.07.2022 

Seminar 

Conceptual thought on Gender Equity & 
Equality in collaboration with FAC 

350 Students of FAC 04.10.2022 

No Title of the programme 
No. of 
Participants 

Target group Date 

Physical Education Unit 

01 
Organized Inter Faculty Sports Festival-
2022 

All Students All Faculties 
September 2022 - 
November 2022 

02 
Participated Inter University 
Championship-2022 

250 students 
All State 
Universities 

November 04, 2022 - 
January 10, 2023 
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5 Capital Works          

5.1 Details of Project Expenditure  

 

 The summary details of each ongoing major capital project and latest photograph are shown 

in tables 5.1 and 5.2. 

 

 Table 5.1: Family Quarters 

     Year Awarded 2019 

Awarded Description of the 
Project 

Design, Construction and Commissioning of the Building 
Complex for Staff Quarters  (Academic/ Non Academic) 
at SEUSL, Oluvil 

Loan/Grant Grant 

Funding Agency GOSL 

TEC  Rs. 272,100,000.00 

Cumulative Expenditure as 
at 31.12.2022 

237,432,582 

% of Physical Progress 85% 
 

 

 

Table 5.2: Agro Tech Park Malwatta 

Year Awarded 2021 

Awarded Description of the 
Project 

Infrastructure Development of Agro Tech Park Malwatta, 
SEUSL 

Loan/Grant Grant 

Funding Agency GOSL 

TEC  Rs. 149,520,555.00 

Cumulative Expenditure as 
at 31.12.2022 

57,482,642 

% of Physical Progress 45% 
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6 Sustainable Development Activities      

6.1 Achievement of Sustainable Development Activities 

Strategies, Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and the targets incorporated in 

the Strategic Plan (2019-2023) related to sustainable development under the 

objectives 6.4 and 6.6 of the goal 6 and achievements made in 2022 in each 

KPIs are given in the below table. 

 
Goal 6:  Good Governance and Sustainability. 

Objective 6.4: To enhance financial sustainability of the university through 

creation of diversified sources of income and fostering sound financial 

management. 

Objective 6.6: To enhance our staff and institutional commitments towards 

sustainable development agenda. 

 
Table 6.1: Achievements made in 2022 related to KPIs under objective 6.4 and 6.6 of the goal 6 

Ref. 
No 

Strategies KPIs Target 
Achievement in 
2022 

6.4.1 

Form a fund –raising 
committee of the 
university to search, 
campaign and bid for 
potential competitive 
aids and philanthropic 
sources with the 
objective of raising 
funds for implementing  
the strategic plan and 
master plan of SEUSL 

Percentage 
of generated 
(non-grant) 
annual 
income over 
total income 

Increases the 
percentage of 
generated (non-
grant) annual 
income over total 
income to at least 
10% by 2023 

The income for 
the year 2022 
was accounted 
Rs. 40,048,920.00 
from the 
following 
sources: 
Registration, 
examination, 
interest, sales, 
fine, SFAs and 
other sources 

6.4.2 

Convince the state 
authorities for increased 
funding for having 
overwhelmingly 
accommodated the 
government‟s policy to 
provide increased 
access to higher 
education  

Use of 
Kuwait 
funding 
opportuniti
es 
 

Increase the use of 
Kuwait funding 
opportunities for 
financing at least 
50% of the 
remaining projects 
under the master 
plan by 2023 
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6.4.3 

Encourage the faculties, 
CEDPL and other 
functional units to 
introduce a wide range 
of financially viable 
academic programmes 
and extension activities 
which generate 
surpluses for re-
investment 

Competitive 
grant raised 
per annum 
to annual 
capital grant 
ratio 

Increase the 
competitive grant 
raised per annum 
to annual capital 
grant ratio to at 
least 0.3: 1 by 2023 

Rs. 50.48 million 
(total Income) 
was generated 
from CEDPL 
and other 
postgraduate 
programmes 
during the year 
2022. 

6.4.4 

Revitalize the teaching , 
learning , management 
and marketing 
strategies at CEDPL 
with the aim of 
attracting more students 
to the existing and 
potential external /part 
–time programmes 

Absorption 
capacity : 
Percentage 
utilization 
(Disbursem
ent) of 
capital grant 

Increase the 
percentage 
utilization (that is , 
Disbursement ) of 
annual capital 
grant to least 95% 

Nil from the 

capital grant  

Note: Own 
Generation of 
Fund by CEDPL 

6.4.5 

Reform the business 
model of CEDPL so that 
it may offer financially 
feasible multi-
disciplinary 
academic/Professional 
programmes 
collaborated by 
different faculties 
/universities 

Reduction 
in cost per 
Student 

Reduce the cost 
per student by 4% 
by 2023 

There was a 

decrease in the 

cost per student 

compare to the 

year 2021 

 

6.4.6 

Improve the quality of 
financial reports of the 
university and make it 
publicly available 

  

Financial reports 
are usually 
placed at the 
financial 
committee and 
also the report is 
sent to all 
faculties. 
Meantime, 
Annual report 
placed at the 
parliament   

6.4.7 

Publish internally the 
quarterly financial / 
budget progress of 
faculties, units and of 
the university as a 
whole thereby enforcing 
transparency, quality 
financial scrutiny and 

  

In order to 
maintain the 
quality and 
transparency of 
the operation, 
The reports are 
distributed to 
the deans of the 
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accountability faculties and 
other relevant 
departments 

6.4.8 

Increase the 
reinvestment of 
generated income on 
capital, research and 
human development 
activities underpinning 
organizational 
sustainability 

  

1  million 
allocated to the 
research, and 
Human 
development 
during the year 
2022 

6.4.9 

Abolish all non-value 
adding administrative / 
procumbent practices at 
the university in order 
to enhance our financial 
absorption capacity and 
efficiency 

  

Traditional  
practices of GRN 
, SRN were 
computerized to 
make the 
function 
efficiently 

6.4.10 

Use the history of 
spending , asset 
utilizations and 
accountability of 
faculties and units to 
inform future resource  
allocations thereto  

  
Efficiency of 
Routine process 
are improved 

6.4.11 

Devise and implement a 
mechanism to perform 
assets utility survey to 
monitor and improve 
efficient asset utilization 

  

According to the 
circular, board of 
survey was 
conducted at the 
end of each year 

6.4.12 

Save recurrent expenses 
and make use of it for 
students and staff 
empowerment and 
welfare activities 

  

Instructions and 
controlled 
mechanism are 
followed by the 
respective heads. 
Certain portion 
of generated 
fund are 
allocated for 
staff and faculty 
development. 

6.6.1. 

Develop our 
institutional policy 
framework to inform 
our teaching, learning, 
procurement and 
management strategies 
by sustainable 
development agenda 

Student 
enrolment 
to higher 
education 

Increase the 
enrolment by 
another 25% by 
2023 

Total Population 

for 2019/2020 

and 2020/2021 

batches were: 

5843(following) 

and 7188 

(following) 
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respectively. An 

increase of total 

students‟ intake 
were recorded in 

the year 2022. 

6.6.2 

Integrate the 
sustainability 
development strategies 
into our teaching, 
learning and assessment 
strategies preferably 
through curricula 

Energy 
efficiency: 
per capita 
consumptio
n of 
electricity 

Reduce the per 
capita 
consumption of 
electricity 
(electricity 
consumption per 
student ) by at 
least 5% by 2023 

Average 
monthly usage: 
18.72 
units/student 

6.6.3 

Promote sustainable 
consumption of 
electricity and water 
resources through 
improved planning, 
supervision and 
effective accountability 
measures 

Per capita 
consumptio
n of water 

Reduce the per 
capita 
consumption of 
Water (Water 
consumption per 
student ) by at 
least 5% by 2023 

Average 
monthly usage: 
2.00 units/ 
student 

6.6.4 

Strengthen the internal 
audit division to 
underpin our 
commitment to 
sustainability through 
regular and professional 
audit on sustainability 

  
Facilities were 

arranged 

6.6.5 

Conduct regular 
awareness and training 
programmes to student, 
staff, SMEs and public 
to promote their 
engagement towards 
sustainable 
development goals 

  

OSPIM, Career 

guidance Unit, 

Staff 

Development 

Centre, Student 

Support Services 

Unit, faculties 

and libraries are 

conducting such 

programs every 

year 

6.6.6 

Invest on 
renewable/clean energy 
sources and recycling 
infrastructures. 

  

Constructed 
waste water 
treatment plant 
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6.2 Action taken for Environmental Protection 

Regular Environmental Protection Activities 

1. Annual Tree Planting Programme  

 University founder‟s day  

 First day of the year 

 Independence day  

 National tree planting programme of the country  

Eg: Name of trees: Arjuna, Khaya, Bukme, Ceylon Ebony, iluppa, 

Mahogany, Rambotan and Manjadi. 

 
2. Seasonal Programme  

 Before starting the rainy season, prepare the selected area for 

perennial tree planting 

 pruning the Trees and Bushes to rejuvenate the biological 

activities to improve the aesthetical value of the vegetation 

 Planting the Arujua Tree alongside the Kaliodai River. 

 Maintain the existing bio diversity of the university. 

 

3. Monthly Programme  

 Gap filling planted area eg: Way side and river side 

 Establishing new landscaping area 

 
 
 

4. Daily programme  

 Collecting dried fallen leaves and making compost 

 Establishing new plants at plant nursery for future planting 

 

 Placed different coloured trash bins to collect the food waste, polythene 

waste and Paper waste separately. Collected garbages are being taken to 

the garbage collecting Centre of the Pradeshiya Sabha - Addalaichenai.  

 



 

88 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

 Constructed Gabion wall for erosion control at the east part of the 

University alongside the Kaliyodai River. 

 

 Constructed wastewater treatment plant: A portion of the treated water is 

being used for the ornamental garden.Table 6.2 shows the details of waste 

water collection for the water treatment plant. 
 

Table 6.2: Details of waste water collection for the water treatment plant 

S.No Location 
Water 
Collection per 
day (m3/day) 

35% of soacked 
water in Soakage pit 

Water collection 
for the treatment 
plant(m3/day) 

01 
Hela Bojun 
Canteen 

3.00 1.05 1.95 

02 FVG - 01 31.00 Directly send to STP 31.00 

03 FVG - 01(A) 48.00 16.8 31.20 

04 FVB - 01 21.00 7.35 13.65 

05 FVB - 02 48.00 16.8 31.20 

06 FVB - 03 48.00 Directly send to STP 48.00 

07 Staff Quaters 6.00 Directly send to STP 6.00 

Total water Collection per day (m3/day)  163.00 

Four Circles 20.00 in each  -80.00 

Treated balance water output  83.00 

Treated water reuse for gardening 
purposes 

 20.00 

  STP-Sewerage Treatment Plant 

 

 Fauna Flora diversity is maintained at the University. 

 

 

 

7 Details of Financial Progress        

7.1 Income 

(Rs. Million) 

 
Notes: 

 (1) "Government Grant" refers to treasury grant received for Recurrent Expenditure, Capital 

Expenditure, Mahapola & Bursaries.  

 (2) "Other Income" refers to Income from interests, fees, sales and miscellaneous receipts and 

generated income from extension programmes & other activities too. 

year Government Grant (1) Other Income (2) Total 

2021 1,861.68 22.22 1,883.90 

2022 1,816.68 40.05 1,856.73 
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7.2. Generated Income (Extension Programmes and Postgraduate Studies) 

 

7.3. Recurrent Expenditure of Major Programmes 
                                                                                                             (Rs. Million) 

Year 
General 
Administration 
& Staff Services 

Academic 
Services 
(2) 

Welfare 
Services 
(3) 

Maintenance 
Services 

Others  
(1) 

Total 
Recurrent 
Expenditure 

2021 361.71 1,077.17 118.34 79.14 22.38 1,658.74 

2022 441.80 1,197.45 112.12 95.19 24.35 1,870.92 

(Excludes Depreciation) 

    Notes:  
(1) "Others" refers to expenditure on External Examinations, Ancillary Activities, Extension Courses, Physical 
Education,  etc.  
(2) "Academic Services" includes Teaching Resources as well. 
(3) "Welfare Services" includes expenditure incurred on Mahapola & Bursaries too.  
 

7.3.1 Recurrent Expenditure on Academic Services 
                                                                                                (Rs. Million) 
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234.34 189.69 176.68 116.33 188.71 93.47 56.90 21.05 1,077.17 

2
02

2 

261.76 202.96 205.41 124.11 209.64 110.77 61.45 21.35 1,197.45 

Subject Collection in 2021 (Rs.) Collection in 2022 (Rs.) 

Undergraduate Studies  38,170,202.00 40,548,058.00 

Diploma Programmes 1,914,050.00 588,920.00 

Certificate Programmes -- 871,500.00 

Postgraduate Studies 9,310,320.00 14,070,305.00 

Total 49,394,472.00 56,078,783.00 
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7.4. Capital Expenditure 
               (Rs. Million) 

Year 
Construction 

Lands, Equipments, Furniture, Library 
Books, Periodicals & Vehicles 

Rehabilitation & Maintenance of 
Capital Assets 

Other Capital 
Projects (1) 

Total Capital 
Expenditure 

Government Grant 

2021 124.75 22.23 8.84 10.77 166.59 

2022 91.21 38.44 26.03 12.73 168.41 

Note: 
(1) "Other Capital Projects" refers to grants for Technology stream, postgraduate research, knowledge enhancement & institutional development, staff 
development, etc  

 

  7.5. Expenditure (Except Depriciation and Mahapola Bursary) 

Subject 
Provision in. Expenditure in Savings / Excess Rs. 

2021(Rs) 2022 (Rs) 2021(Rs) 2022 (Rs) 2021(Rs) 2022 (Rs) 

Recurrent Except Project 1,665,000,000.00 1,662,000,000.00 1,571,016,532.04 1,792,732,503.20 93,983,467.96 (130,732,503.20) 

Capital Except Project 250,000,000.00 130,000,000.00 166,595,426.27 168,409,076.69 83,404,573.73 (38,409,076.69) 

Total 1,915,000,000.00 1,792,000,000.00 1,737,611,958.31 1,961,141,579.89 177,388,041.69 (169,141,579.89) 

 

7.6 Financial Performance Analysis – 2022 

 7.6.1 Cost per student (Recurrent and Capital expenses) 

Faculty 
No. of Students Cost per Student (Rs.) 

2021 2022 2021 2022 

Arts and Culture 1,258 1,299 394,806.58 380,595.42 

Management and Commerce 1,402 1,868 343,831.58 287,742.47 

Applied Sciences 742 1,024 446,636.75 379,689.66 

Islamic Studies and Arabic Languages 1,308 1,746 297,462.49 250,175.04 

Engineering 479 400 602,503.31 703,186.11 

Technology 655 848 351,237.90 309,715.23 
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7.7: Annual Accounts – 2022 
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                                                                              SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

For the Year Ended 31st December 2022 

  2022  2021 

  Rs.  Rs.  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities   

Surplus / (Deficit) from Ordinary Activities (130,456,831) 4,996,801 

Adjustments   

Interest for the year (25,238,590) (6,715,660) 

Depreciation in prior year adjustments - 32,953,731 

Settlement of Sub unit Transaction - 156,710 

Distribution of Income 12,305,208 1,844.352 

Sale of unserviceable Articles (900,500) (60,300) 

Prior Year Adjustments (632,250) - 

Non - Cash Movements   

Depreciation  527,515,552 560,044,143 

Provision for Gratuity 42,506,154 34,536,260 

Amortization of Capital Grant (517,337,021) (558,894,951) 

Prior Year Adjustments - 2,108 

Net Surplus/(deficit) from the Ordinary Activities (92,238,278) 68,863,194 

Increase / Decrease in Accounts Receivables (30,712,893) (4,982,228) 

Increase / Decrease in Inventory (5,603,504) 1,146,068 

Increase / Decrease in Current Liability 68,267,174 4,998,409 

   

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (60,287,501) 70,025,443 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Acquisition of Fixed Assets (168,409,077) (166,957,226) 

Deposit in Fixed Deposit (197,300,149) (60,774,827) 

Withdrawal of Fixed Deposit/ Interest 156,951,318 22,903,918 

Sale of unserviceable Articles 900,500 60,300 

Interest Received 19,071,325 - 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (188,786,083) (204,767,835) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Government Grant for Capital Expenditure 110,000,000 212,953,390 

Restricted Fund 5,882,374 48,978,934 

Utilization of SFA Fund (2,009,900) (800,000) 

Transferred to University Development & VC Funds - (20,857,988) 

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities 113,872,474 240,274,336 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (135,201,110) 105,531,944 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Period 223,626,405 118,094,461 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 88,425,295 223,626,405 
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 SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

 
For the Year Ended 31st December 2022 

       
 

 

Description 
   Capital Grant     

spent and  
unspent 

Restricted 
Fund 

Gift and 
Donations 

Revaluation  
Surplus 

Accumulated 
Fund/ General 

Reserve 

Funds 
SFAs      

 
 
Differed 
Revenue Total 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,463,375,073 74,405,122 3,597,642,230 530,887,790 (522,032,127) 13,476,429 
 

2,888,156 
 

5,160,642,673 

Net Movements in Capital Grant 
Spent & Unspent 

   
110,000,000 

- -               - - - - 
     

110,000,000 

Amortization of Capital  
Grant/Donation/Differed Revenue 

   
(470,309,218)  

- 
 

  (46,231,993) 
- - - 

 
(795,810) 

  
(517,337,021) 

Changes in /(Transferred to)Restricted 
Fund 

- 5,882,374    -               - - - - 5,882,374 

Prior year Adjustments - -   -              - (958,382) - - (958,382) 

Net Movement in Donation - - 176,018,662   - - - - 176,018,662 

Distribution from Current year SFAs 
Income/ Transfer to funds 

- - -               - - 12,305,208 - 12,305,208 

Utilization during the period - - - - - (2,009,900) - (2,009,900) 

Surplus/Deficit for the period - -  -               - (130,456,831)   - - (130,456,831) 

Balance as at 31st December 2022 1,103,065,855 80,287,495 3,727,428,899 530,887,790 (653,447,341) 23,771,737 2,092,346 4,814,086,782 
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South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

Accounting Policies 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT POLICIES 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

1.1. General Information 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) is established under the Universities Act No 16 of 

1978, and located in the Eastern Province, Ampara District, Oluvil in Sri Lanka. 

 

1.2. Principal activities and nature of operations 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka is one of the National universities that mainly operates on  

Government  funds  and  promotes  higher  education  and  research  in  the  fields  of Engineering, 

Social Sciences, Applied Sciences, Islamic and Arabic Languages, Commerce and Management and 

Technology.  

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1. Statement of Compliance 

The  Statement  of  Financial  Position,  Statement  of  Financial  Performance,  Statement  of 

Changes  in  Equity  and  the  Statement  of  Cash  Flows  together  with  the  accounting policies  

and  notes  have  been  prepared  in  compliance  with  the  Sri  Lanka  Public  Sector Accounting  

Standards  (SLPSAS)  issued  by  the  Institute  of  Chartered  Accounts  of  Sri Lanka  and  the  

requirements  of  the  Universities  Act  No  16  of  1978  and  subsequence amendments   thereto.   

The   Annual   Statement   of   Accounts   comprises   the   financial statements of the year 2022. 

2.2. Basis of Measurement 

The financial statements of SEUSL have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical 
cost convention unless stated otherwise. 

2.3. Functional and Presentation Currency 

The  financial  statements  are  presented  in  Sri  Lankan  Rupees  (SLR),  which   is  the functional 

currency and presentation currency and all values are rounded to the nearest rupees unless stated 

otherwise. 

2.4. Comparative Information 

The  comparative  figures  have  been  re-arranged  where  necessary  to  conform  to  the 

presentation  in  the  current  year.  Also the last year figures shown for comparison purpose. 

2.5. Use of Estimates and Judgments 

The  presentation  and  preparation  of  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  SLPSASs 

requires  management  to  make  judgments,  estimates  and  assumptions  that  affect  the 

application of the accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and   

expenses.   Actual   results   may   differ   from   these   provisional   estimates   and judgmental 

decisions. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

effects on that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods. 
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South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

Accounting Policies 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

(a) Recognition and Measurement 

Property, Plant & Equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.   The cost of property,  
plant  &  equipment  is  the  cost  of  purchase  or  construction  together  with  any incidental expenses 
thereon. 

(b)  Cost 

The cost of property, plant & equipment comprise its purchase or construction cost and any directly 
contributable cost of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
 

(c)  Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Financial Performance on the straight line basis at the 
following rates per annum in order to write off the cost of such assets over their estimated useful      
lives. Depreciation is provided on pro rata basis on the asset purchased/constructed/disposed of 
during the year. 
 

Buildings       5% 
Furniture & Fittings    10% 
Lab & Teaching Equipment   20% 
Motor Vehicles     20% 
Water & Electricity Supply    10% 
Library books & Periodicals   20% 
Cloaks      20% 
Roads      20% 
Electricity Transmission Networks   10% 
Intangible Assets     20% 
Others       20% 

 
Land 

Lands consist of around 224 acres at various locations as follows. 

Oluvil 178.98  acres 
Samanthurai 6.72 acres 
Malwatta 35.25  acres 
Weeramunai 3.00 acres 
Mountlavinia APC 17.64 perch  

 

Land is valued at fair value in year 2011, as determined by the Valuation Department, Uva Provincial 

Office. Meanwhile, Mountlavinia APC land is valued in 2016.  

 (d)Revaluation of the Property, Plant, &Equipments 

The lands of the university have been revalued as at 31st December 2011 and recognized to the books of 
accounts. 
 
On  the  request  of  SEUSL  the  Government  Valuation Department  revalued  the  Buildings which 
had been fully depreciated in the books of Accounts and the revalued amounts have been incorporated 
into the accounts with effect from 01st January 2021. 
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South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

  Accounting Policies 

The Committee assigned by the university council, on the recommendation of the Audit and 
Management Committee, revalued the Equipment and Sports Equipment which had already been fully 
depreciated. These assets were incorporated into the accounts with effect from 01st July 2020, with the 
approval of the university Council. 

 

3.2. TAX 

(a) Income Tax 

University is not liable to pay income tax on its‟ net income according to the prevailing tax rules. 

(b) Payee Tax 

University currently remits payee tax after deducting from monthly salaries of the liable employees for 

income tax which is not a part of the University expenditure. Hence, Payee tax is not disclosed in the 

accounts of the University. 

3.3. INVENTORIES 
Inventories  of  the  University  have  been  physically  verified  and  valued  at  cost  as  at  31st 

December   2022.   The   cost   incurred   in   bringing   inventories   to   its   percent   location,   are 
accounted on FIFO basis. 
 
3.3.1 
Stock verification as at 31.12.2022 was carried out by the Board of Survey appointed by the Vice 
Chancellor (Accounting Officer), SEUSL. 

 
The Physical quantities were verified, and values were calculated. The certified values of the stock at the 
stores of SEUSL (including maintenance items) were verified, and the values were taken into the books 
of accounts. 
 
3.4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Trade  and  other  receivables  are  stated  at  the  amount  they  are  estimated  as  per  SLPSAS  01 that 
is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting date. No provision has been made for bad 
and doubtful receivables. 
 
3.4.1 BOND VIOLATION AND LOAN OUTSTANDING 
There is a long-term outstanding loan balance amount of Rs. 29,058.00  from  an  academic  staff  and a 
bond  violation  aggregating  amount  of  Rs. 1,043,137.22 from  an  academic  staff  who  have vacated 
their post. 
 
Action taken to recover the above stated outstanding 

I. Action has been taken to recover the outstanding from the UPF balance 
II. Legal action has already been taken. 

 
3.5. INVESTMENTS IN FIXED DEPOSITS 
 
Investments in Fixed Deposits are stated at present value (SLR). 
 
3.6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents disclosed in the statement of financial position and the cash flow statement 
comprised balances of current accounts. 
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South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

                                                                                   Accounting Policies 

 

3.7. LIABILITIES & PROVISIONS 

All known liabilities as at the balance sheet date are included in the financial statements and adequate  
provisions  are  made  for  liabilities  which  are  known  to  exist  but  the  amount  of which cannot  be 
determined accurately. 
 
Obligations  payable  on  demand  or  within  one  year  of  the  balance  sheet  date  are  treated  as 
current liabilities in the balance sheet. Liabilities payable after one year from the balance sheet date are 
treated as non-current liabilities in the balance sheet. 
 
3.7.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Below given schedule shows the list of ongoing Court cases as at 31.12.2022. 

 

     Case No 
Court 

Details 
Details of Cases Foreseen Outcome 

2879/B/PC/21 MC/AKP 
The Driver of the Boom Track claiming 
compensation to the damage caused to 
the Generator from FAC. 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

DCA/M/1251/19 DC/AKP 
Mr. ARM. Imthiyas (Former Lecturer – 
Probationary) – Recovery of Bond 
amount. 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

LT/BT/362/2018 
Labour 
Tribunal, 
Batticaloa 

Mr. Aliff (Former Senior Lecturer, 
SEUSL) – challenging termination of 
Employment. 

May be needed to pay his 
remuneration back 

LT/44/707/2020 
Labour 
Tribunal, 
Ampara 

Filed by an former employee employed 
on daily wage basis challenging 
Termination of Employment. 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

LT/44/709/2020 
Labour 
Tribunal, 
Ampara 

Filed by an former employee employed 
on daily wage basis challenging 
Termination of Employment. 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

USAB/1028/21 
USAB, 
Colombo 

Mr. MB. Murshid (Former Lecturer – 
Probationary) – challenging normal 
promotion and confirmation 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

USAB/ Appeal 
No.1061/2022 

USAB, 
Colombo 

Dr. SMM. Ismail (Former Vice 
Chancellor)–challenging reinstatement 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

CA(W) A 
No.464/2019 

CA, 
Colombo 

Mr. MSM. Najeem – Against Vacation of 
Post 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/=  

CA(W) A 
No.179/2021 

CA, 
Colombo 

MAJ. Rozan Ahamed – Challenging 
temporarily suspend of appointment of 
TO (GII), Segment “B” by the Treasury 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/=  

CA(W)A 
No.405/2021 

CA, 
Colombo 

MIM. Jazeel – External Exam paper and 
Seminar issue 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/= 

CA(W)A 
No.149/2022 

CA, 
Colombo 

Dr. AM. Jazeel (Lecturer at College of 
Education) – challenging appontments in 
Education, FAC 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/= 

CA(W)A 
No.261/2022 

CA, 
Colombo 

Mr. ALM. Aslam (ADP) – challenging 
appontments in Economics, FAC 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/= 

CA(W)A 
No.457/2022 

CA, 
Colombo 

Ms. ARFS. Fanoon (Former Temporary 
Demonstrator)–challenging appointment 
of Lecturer (Prob.) in ICT/FT 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/= 

SC/FR Application 
No. 166/2021 

Supreme 
Court, 
Colombo 

CM. Thowfeek – Challenging 
recruitment for the Post of Director for 
Physical Education 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‟s Department 100,000/= 

 

MC: Magistrate Court/AKP: Akkaraipattu/USAB: University Services Appeal Board/CA: Court of 

Apeal/ CA (W)A:CA (Write) Application.  
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                                                                                   Accounting Policies 

 

As we are unable to estimate the compensation at this point of time, no provision has been made in the 

accounts, which might incur in future. 

 
3.8. GRATUITY 

 

Provision for gratuity was made in accordance with gratuity Act No 12 of 1983. The Gratuity liability is 
not externally funded nor actually valued but provisioned.  The  gratuity  fund Account  is  shown  
under  the  Non-Current  liabilities  in  the  Statement  of  financial  position, based on half month  salary 
as of the last month  on financial year of all employees for each completed year of service, commencing 
from the first year of service. 
 

3.9. UNIVERSITY PROVIDENT AND EMPLOYEES’ TRUST FUND 
 

Employees of the University are eligible for University Provident Fund (UPF) contributions and 
Employees‟ Trust Fund (ETF) contribution in line with respective status and regulations. The University  
contributes  the defined  percentages (15%) and (3%) of gross emoluments of employees  to  an  
approved  employees‟  provident  fund  and  to  the  employees  trust  fund respectively, which are 
operated extremely. 

 
 

3.10. ACCOUNTING FOR GRANT 
 

Grants that compensate the University for Expenses incurred are recognized as revenue in the Income  
Statement  in  the  same  period  in  which  the  expenses  are  recognized.  Grants that compensate the 
University for the Cost of as asset are recognized in the Income Statement on a systematic basis over the 
useful life time of the related asset. 
 
3.11. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

All  material  commitments  and  contingent  liabilities  are  considered  and  where  necessary 
adjustments or disclosures are made in the financial statements. 
 
3.12. DISCLOSE OF ACCOUNTING INFORMATION OF THE UNIT 
 
Center for External Degrees and Professional Learning (CEDPL) 
 
Accounts  of  Center  for  External  Degrees  and  Professional  Learning  have  been  prepared 
separately and also incorporated with the University Accounts. 
 

Self-Financing Activities Unit (FMC, FAC, FT, FAS, FIA) 
 
Accounts of Self Financing Activites Units (FMC, FAC, FT, FAS & FIA) have been prepared separately 
and also incorporated with the University Accounts. 
 
Incorporation of University Units Accounts 
 
When  preparing  the  Financial  Statements  of  the  University,  amount  of  Rs.14,128,640.31 receivable  
from the Centre  for  External  Degrees  &  Professional  Learning  (CEDPL)  and the Self Financing 
Activities Units (FMC, FAC ,FT, FAS & FIA) , and Rs. 5,067,640.00 and Rs. 10,000,000.00 payable to 
CEDPL and FMC, respectively, are set off. 
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South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

                                                                                   Accounting Policies 

3.13. INCOME STATEMENT 
 

3.13.1. REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
university and that it can be reliably measured. 
 

(a) Enrolment fees from students are recognized as revenue on receipt. 
 

(b) Fees on examinations, seminars, courses and other educational and activities are   
recognized as revenue on completion of such activity. 

 
(c) The fees on fee-levying courses recognized to the income statement based on the stage of 

completion of each courses as at the year end. Lecture fees and payments which  are  
related  to  future  periods  are  shown  in  the  Balance  Sheet  as  income received in 
advance under the Reserve & Restricted funds. 
 

(d) Interest income is recognized on accrual basis. 
 

(e) Revenue  from  grant  is  recognized  when  control  of  the  contribution  or  right  to 
receive the contribution is confirmed. 

 
(f) Sponsorship related activities are recognized on receipt 

 
(g) Other income is recognized on accrual basis. 

  

3.13.2. EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION 
 
Expenses are recognized in the income statement on the basis of direct association between 
cost incurred and the earning of specific items of the income. All expenditures incurred in the 
running of the university and maintaining the capital assets have been charged to revenue in 
arriving at the surplus/ deficit for the year. Expenses on examinations, seminars, courses, and 
other  educational  activities  are  recognized  in  the  income  statement  on  completion  of  
such activity. 

 
3.14. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 
The  materiality  of  events  occurring  after  the  Balance  Sheet  date  has  been  considered  
and appropriate adjustments, wherever necessary, have been made in the accounts. 
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          Notes to the Accounts    

                                                                   Note 01 - Property, Plant, Equipment & Human Resource Development 

For the Year ended 31st 
December                  

    
Schedule  

  
   Cost as at   
01.01.2022 

Total Addition  
  

   Cost as at 
31.12.2022 

 Accumulated 
Depreciation as at 

31.12.2021  

             
Depreciation for 

the Year 2022  

 Accumulated 
Depreciation as 

at 31.12.2022  

 Net Value as 
at 31.12.2022  

Land 1.01 450,330,000 - 450,330,000 - - - 450,330,000 

Buildings 1.02 5,601,354,610 26,026,358 5,627,380,968 1,742,426,059 258,229,963 2,000,656,022 3,626,724,946 

Furniture 1.03 527,838,747 42,676,126 570,514,873 288,725,899 47,201,068 335,934,714 234,580,159 

Equipment 1.04 1,630,711,672 165,412,315 1,796,123,987 1,250,924,148 184,506,562 1,439,600,638 356,523,349 

Books and Periodicals  201,368,432 3,489,248 204,857,679 189,612,341 7,696,933 197,309,274 7,548,405 

Vehicles 1.05 114,363,388 - 114,363,388 112,818,874 1,522,075 114,340,949 22,439 

Softwares 1.06 6,588,505 1,577,000 8,165,505 3,800,904 1,361,771 5,162,674 3,002,831 

Road 1.07 209,727,402 - 209,727,402 182,404,022 11,941,501 194,345,524 15,381,879 

Telephone & Network 1.08 47,672,367 - 47,672,367 47,672,367 - 47,672,367 - 

Electricity  1.09 50,396,903 - 50,369,903 27,729,953 4,561,617 32,291,570 18,078,333 

Water Supply  1.10 13,882,615 - 13,882,615 9,980,655 1,388,262 11,368,917 2,513,698 

Cloak 1.11 3,690,803 1,305,000 4,995,803 3,690,803 714 3,691,517 1,304,286 

Academic 
Publication/International 
Symposium 

 19,862,888 2,113,210 21,976,098 15,703,035 2,075,263 17,778,298  4,197,800 

Competency Building of 
Academics 

 31,308,339 7,568,996 38,877,336 22,234,211 3,616,756 25,850,967 13,026,369 

Quality Assurance & 
Accreditation 

 11,704,167 945,500 12,649,667 6,305,728 2,341,352 8,647,080 4,002,587 

Research &Academic 
Development 

 4,128,315 2,106,329 6,234,644 284,000 997,962 1,281,962 4,952,682 

Attending International 
Conference 

 291,962 - 291,962 91,249 58,392 149,641 142,321 

Final Year Projects  76,808 - 76,808 38,404 15,362 53,766 23,042 

Total  8,925,270,923 253,220,082 9,178,491,005 3,904,442,651 527,515,552 4,436,135,878 4,742,355,126 
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                                 SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

 Notes to the Accounts  

For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2022 2021 

 Rs  Rs 

Note 02 -  Work in Progress 
  

 
 

New Quarters for Academic& Non Academics   237,432,582 160,973,272 
Infrastructure for Agro Tech Park FOT   57,482,642 41,577,093 

New Laboratory Block at FASc   - 3,365,344 
Light to Main Entrance  807,939 - 
Bathroom and Toilet facilities to Landscape Dep.  1,400,203 - 
    

    297,123,366   205,915,709 

Note 03 - Financial Assets      

Fixed Deposits  3.01 57,944,923   27,098,555 
    

    57,944,923   27,098,555 

Note 04 – Inventories/ Stocks 
 
Stores Advance Account – Supplies 
Stores Advance Account – Maintenance 
 

 
4.01  
4.02 

 
10,443,943 
3,128,173   

 
5,593,352 
2,375,259 

  13,572,115   7,968,611 

Note 05 – Accounts Receivable    

    

Security Deposits 5.01 5,227,429   5,227,429 

Distress Loan 5.02 27,610,649   25,458,742 

Staff Loan 5.03 96,560   99,620 

Vehicle Loan 5.04 122,000   62,000 

Computer Loan 5.05 335,800   444,400 

Motor Cycle Loan 5.06 249,053   344,852 

Festival Advance 5.07 297,082 420,830 

Salary Advance 5.08 -   32,159 

Special Advance 5.09 -   4,800 

Bond Violation 5.10 15,547,369 18,337,779 

Miscellaneous Advance 5.11 140,535 90,900 

Postal Franking Machine Advance  71,740 270 

Research Advance 5.12 - 207,492 

Dues to SEUSL 5.13 52,142,941 19,983,617 

Dues from CEDPL  11,527,145 27,576,589 

Salary Receivable 5.14 2,450,637 2,927,789 

Dues from PGU MA & MBA  2,347,472 8,729172 

Dues from PGU-FOT   96,932 33,570 

Supplies Advance (Purchasing)  88,777 25,000 

Dues from PGU- FIA  34,869 16,445 

Dues from PGU-FASc  122,222 70,953 

Inter Units Transaction set off   (14,128,640) (36,426,730) 

 

    

    104,380,572 73,667,679 
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                                                                                     SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

                                                                                   Accounting Policies 

For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2022 

Rs 

2021 

Rs 

Note 06 – Fixed Deposit SFA Programmes 

 

Centre for External Degrees & Professionals 

Learning 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit – FAC 

  

 

 

 

178,677,074 

1,766,250 

86,635 

 

161,536,609 

5,668,897 

142,569 

 

 

   180,529,960 167,348,075 

 

Note 07- Interest Receivables 

 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka  

Centre for External Degrees & Professional 

Learning 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit-FAC 

  

1,309,998 

2,186,959 

47,487 

2,329 

 

242,759 

751,067 

63,505 

1,597 

 

  3,546,774 1,058,929 

 

Note 08 – Cash & Cash Equivalents 

 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 7000  1696 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 7000  1700 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 9000  1704 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 0000  1708 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 5000  1715 

Peoples Bank - 064 1001 7000  0025 

Peoples Bank - 064 1001 6000  0950 

Peoples Bank - 228 10014004 2429 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 6000 1692 (CEDPL) 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 2003 2544 (FMC) 

Peoples Bank  - 228 1001 5004 0340 (FAC) 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 6005 2714 (FT) 

Peoples Bank – 064 1012 4004 6778 (FAS) 

People Bank – 064 1001 4005 4083 (FIA)  

7,293,122 

140,121 

30,314,144 

1,276,144 

9,112,266 

289,539 

289,433 

- 

22,452,755 

7,748,990 

6,589,954 

1,579,690 

194,937 

1,144,200 

10,233,836.14 

34,665,004.15 

7,826,004.46 

211,772.55 

17,351,343.56 

1,080,065.25 

367,973.20 

28,937,824.04 

16,300.00 

14,346,141.99 

2,368,721.08 

689,475.00 

- 

   

  88,425,295 223,626,405 

Note 09 – Restricted Funds 

 

Memorial Price Funds 9.01 

 

348,000 348,000 

Short ICIT Course  434,454 434,454 

Scholarship for Foreign Students  564,600 684,600 

UNDP Grant  165,078 165,078 

Research Projects  12,323,452 12,830,200 

Centre for Gender Equity  598,155 598,155 
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2022 

Rs 

2021 

Rs 

 

Note 09 – Restricted Funds Cont…. 
Awareness programme for students by UGC 

 

600,000 600,000 

Sediment Survey & Geomorphology Survey 863,539 863,539 

NCAS Grant – Higher Studies - 1,424,826   

University Development Fund 28,808,341 21,622,731 

Vice Chancellor Fund 6,290,872 8,840,815 

Faculty Development Fund - FAC 8,149,753 7,160,203 

Faculty Development Fund - FMC 5,027,950 4,196,116 

Faculty Development Fund - FE 105,915 105,915 

Faculty Development Fund - FASc 59,049 9,049 

Faculty Development Fund – FT 44,360 2,660 

Faculty Development Fund – FIA 12,287 - 

Research & Publication Fund – FAC 8,275,385 7,302,885 

Research & Publication Fund – FMC 7,599,333 7,214,035 

Research & Publication Fund – FT 2,460 1,860 

Research & Publication Fund – FIA 14,514 - 

  

  80,287,495 74,405,122 

Note 10 - Capital Grant  

Capital Grant Spent 

Capital Contribution – MRR 

Capital Grant Spent – IRQUE 

Capital Contribution – Kuwaith fund 

Capital Contribution – MOHE 

Capital Grant-Unspent 

Donation 

 

  

10.01 

10.02 

10.03 

10.04 

10.05 

  

10.06 

 

  

1,364,541,370 

90,161,460 

65,414,084 

1,779,086,269 

1,038,026,884 

66,909,465 

426,355,224 

 

1,509,829,170 

94,798,402 

72,507,285 

1,870,583,456 

1,091,411,894 

125,318,542 

296,568,555 

 

    4,830,494,755 5,061,017,304 

 

Note 11– Reserves 

 

Accumulated Fund 

Net in Amortization & Depreciation ( Prior years 

adjustment) 

  

  

  

(522,032,127) 

- 

(502,486,976) 

(20,857,988) 

Net surplus/Deficit for the period (130,456,831) 4,996,801 

Transferred to Different Revenue - (3,683,965) 

Prior year adjustment (958,382)  

    (653,447,341) (522,032,127) 

 

Note 12- Revalution Reserves 

 

Revaluation Reserves 

 

12.01 

 

530,887,790 

 

530,887,790 

 

    530,887,790 530,887,790 
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2022 

Rs 

2021 

Rs 

 

Note 13 -Self Financing Programme Funds       

CEDPL Development Fund  21,876,867 11,601,767 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FMC  1,691,250 1,766,250 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FAC  139,135 86,635 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FT  3,530 2,730 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FAS  46,825 19,047 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FIA  14,130 - 

    

  23,771,737 13,476,429 

 

Note 14 - Gratuity 

      

Provision for Gratuity 14.01 468,403,721 425,897,567 

    

    468,403,721 425,897,567 

Note 15 – Accounts Payables 

       

Refundable Deposit -Science Lab  15.01 657,800 657,800 

Refundable Deposit -Library 15.02 163,400 163,400 

Refundable Deposit- Hostel  15.03 4,806,100 3,331,600 

Refundable Deposit - Contractors 15.04 56,000 425,000 

Refundable Deposit - Suppliers 15.05 562,000 390,000 

Retention Money - Contractors 15.06 14,180,993 13,484,431 

Retention Money - Supplier 15.07 6,977,372 6,061,723 

Dues from SEUSL 15.08 56,268,839 21,651,245 

Received in Advance - SFA Programme   91,482,275 81,746,050 

Payables from SFA Programmes   1,291,155 265,848 

Inter Units Transaction set off   (15,067,640) (13,000,000) 

    

    161,381,293 115,177,097 

Note 16 -  Other Income 

      

Registration Fees   4,558,080 2,497,750 

Examination Fees   264,950 410,700 

Interest   7,750,077 2,533,518 

Rent   5,472,341 2,756,942 

Sales   2,294,561 1,988,198 

Fines   1,410,156 147,484 

Miscellaneous Income   18,298,755 11,885,589 

    40,048,920 22,220,181 
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2022 

Rs 

2021 

Rs 

 

Note 17-  Self Finance Programme Income 

       

Centre for External Degrees & Professional 

Learning   35,235,075 35,599,772 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC   10,618,495 6,852,221 

SFA Postgraduate Unit - FAC   3,255,528 2,269,565 

SFA/ Postgraduate Unit - FT  471,500 10,000 

 SFA/ Postgraduate Unit - FAS   516,750 446,020 

SFA/ Postgraduate Unit - FIA  389,555 16,445 

    

    50,486,904  45,194,023 

 

Note 18 -  Self Finance Programme Expenses 

      

Centre for External Degrees & Professional 

Learning   29,803,496 14,264,203 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC   8,277,164 6,696,257 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FAC   3,231,178 1,840,333 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FT  459,983 9,286 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FAS   498,032 445,445 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FIA  378,139 16,445 

  42,647,992 23,271,969 
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7.8  Report of the Auditor General - 2022  
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1.2  Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 ----------------------------------- 

(a) Even though the fixed assets costing Rs. 2,081,685,748 as at 31 

December 2022 had been fully depreciated, the useful lifetime of 

assets had not been reviewed annually in terms of paragraph 65 

of the Sri Lanka Public Sector Accounting Standard (SLPSAS) 

and they were being further used, action had been taken to 

rectify the estimation error in terms of Sri Lanka Public Sector 

Accounting Standard 3. 

(b) Although the fair value of property plant and equipment should 

be revalued in every three or five years in terms of paragraph 47 

of the Sri Lanka Public Sector Accounting Standard7, 05 Land of 

the University had not been revalued after 2011.  

 

(c) Even though the building completed at a cost of Rs. 11,400,203 

and handed over to university on 02 May 2022, the amount was 

shown under works- in-progress instead of being capitalized 

under the property, plant, and equipment. 

 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards 

(SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor‟s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of my report. I believe that the audit 

evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my qualified opinion.  

 

1.3 Other information included in the University’s 2022 Annual Report. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------    

The other information comprises the information included in the 

University‟s 2022 Annual Report but does not include the financial 

statements and my auditor‟s report thereon, which is expected to be 
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made available to me after the date of this auditor‟s report.  

Management is responsible for the other information. 

 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 

information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon.   

 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my 

responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it 

becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 

my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. 

 

When I read the University‟s 2022 Annual Report, if I conclude that 

there are material misstatements therein, I am required to 

communicate that matter to those charged with governance for 

correction.  If further material uncorrected misstatements are existed 

those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in 

due course. 

 

 

1.4  Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with 

Governance for the Financial Statements  

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with Sri Lanka Public 

Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as 

management determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.  
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for 

assessing the University ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intend 

to liquidate the University or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 

University financial reporting process.  

 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018, the 

University is required to maintain proper books and records of all its 

income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable annual and 

periodic financial statements to be prepared of the University. 

 

 

1.5 Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor‟s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Sri 

Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I 

exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 



 

113 Annual Report and Accounts 2022 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the University‟s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the management.  

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the management‟s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the University ability 

to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor‟s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of my auditor‟s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the University to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 

other matters, significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
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2. Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 --------------------------------------------------------------------- 

2.1  National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 includes specific provisions for 

following          requirements. 

 

2.1.1  Except for the effect of the matters described in the Basis for Opinion 

paragraph, I have obtained all the information and explanation that 

required for the audit and as far as appears from my examination, 

proper accounting records have been kept by the University as per the 

requirement of section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018. 

2.1.2 The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding 

year as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National 

Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018. 

 

2.1.3 The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations 

made by me in the previous year except the audit matters of 

Paragraphs 1.2 (a) and (b) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion 

section of my report as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of 

the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018. 

 

2.2 Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were 

limited to matters that are material, nothing has come to my attention; 

 

2.2.1  to state that any member of the governing body of the University has 

any direct or indirect interest in any contract entered into by the 

University which are out of the normal cause of business as per the 

requirement of section 12 (d) of the National  Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018; 

 

2.2.2 to state that the University has not complied with any applicable 

written law, general and special directions issued by the governing 

body of the University as per the requirement of   section 12 (f) of the 

National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for; 
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Reference to law/ direction   Description 

---------------------------------  ------------------- 

(a) Financial Regulations (FR) of the 

Government of the Democratic 

Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka  

--------------------------------------- 

  

(i) FR 103(1)  According to the Boards of Survey Report 

for the year 2021, 80 items have been 

reported as lost from 18 Divisions of the 

University. However, action had not been 

taken as per Financial Regulation.  

 

 

(ii)  FR 571  Retention money amounting to Rs. 

18,403,762, and refundable deposits 

amounting to Rs.329,000 which have 

remained in the accounts for a period 

ranging from 03 to 10 years without taken to 

settle or credit to the government revenue. 

 

(b) Establishments Code of the 

Democratic Socialist Republic of 

Sri Lanka 

------------------------------------------ 

  

Section 5.4  of Chapter XIX of 

Establishments Code  

 The University had not taken any action to 

recover the amount of Rs. 20,130,410 due 

from 37 Academic staff and 03 

Administrative officers residing in the 

University quarters for the period 

commencing from 2014 to 2022.  
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(c) Section 3 (1) of Chapter XX of 

Establishments Code of the 

University Grants Commission 

and the Higher Educational 

Institutions and Circular Letter 

No. 10/2017 dated 10 July 2017 of 

the University Grants 

Commission. 

 

 Salaries and allowances amounting to 

Rs.716,558,562 had been paid in the year 

under review without confirming the 

arrivals and the departures of the academic 

and library staff.   

 

(d) Sub Clause 03(X) of National 

Budget Circular No.03/2022 

dated 26 April 2022 (Finance 

Circular letter No. 04/2022 dated 

27 April 2022 of UGC) 

 

 

 The University had paid Rs.2,556,943 as 

loan facilities to 12 staff grade officers even 

though granting loan facilities to staff grade 

officers was suspended by these Circular 

provisions. 

(e) University Grants Commission‟s 
Circulars 
------------------------------------- 

  

Finance Circular Letter No. 

03/2022 and dated 23 February 

2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

(f) National Budget Circular No.  

03/2022 dated 26.04.2022 

 The monthly fuel limit had been limited to 

145 liters to the Vice Chancellors of state 

universities for the year 2022. However, 

1,942 liters of fuel worth Rs.579,687 had 

been excessively in contrary to the approved 

limit during the period from January to 

December 2022. 

 

The University had appointed 18 academic 

staff and paid the sum of Rs. 2,270,995 

without getting special approval from the 

Ministry of Finance. 
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2.2.3 to state that the University has not performed according to its powers, 

functions and duties as per the requirement of section 12 (g) of the 

National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 . 

 

 

2.2.4 To state that the resource of the University had not procured and 

utilized economically, efficiently and effectively within the time frames 

and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement of 

section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018. 

 

 

2.3 Other Audit Observations  

 --------------------------------- 

 

(a) According to the student‟s guide book of External Degree 
Programme for the Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Business 

Administration and Bachelor of Commerce, schedule be 

completed within 03 academic years. However, the degree 

programmes had taken to complete the period ranging from 05 

to 08 years. As a result, this delay could be negatively impact the 

career and employment opportunity of the students.   

 

 

(b) The research grants aggregating Rs. 15,307,313 had been 

awarded for 36 academic staff during the period from 2017 to 

2022. However, out of 36 academic staff, 18 academic staff had 

not completed their research even up to 31 May 2023.  

 

(c) The contract for the Infrastructure Development of Agro tech-

park (19 allocated units of works) at Malwaththa had been 

awarded to a contractor for an amount of Rs. 138,444,958 

(without VAT) on 29 March 2021 and the works to be completed 

on or before 28 June 2022. In this regard, only 45 per cent of the 

works had been completed and 05 units of works aggregating 

Rs. 39,390,993 had not been commenced even by 31 May 2023. 
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(d) The Laboratory Equipment purchasaed at a cost of Rs. 

87,186,796 during the period from year 2017 to 2019 had been 

idled for the periods ranging from 3 to 6 years.   

 

 

 

    W.P.C Wickramaratne 

     Auditor General 
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7.9 Observation to the Report of the Auditor General 
 
 

SEUSL /VC/AR/2023/02        

28 August 2023  

Auditor General 

National Audit Office 

Colombo 

 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and 

Regulatory Requirements of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka for the 

year ended 31 December 2022 in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, 

No.19 of 2018.  

This has reference to your audit report BTC/C/SEUSL/01/22/01 dated 31.07.2023. 

we give below observations for the queries raised in the report. 

 

1.  Financial Statements  

  

1.1  Qualified Opinion  

 

1.2  Basis for Qualified Opinion 

   

(a)   Some Committees had been appointed in this regard. However, the tasks 
could not be completed due to various reasons. Action will be taken to 
expedite the process. 

(b)   The Government Valuation Department, Eastern Regional Office 
Batticaloa has been communicated to revalue the 05 lands of the 
University and this task will be completed in near future. 

 
(c)    The Assets should be recognized when their actual cost is determined 

and when the institution gains custody of the assets. In this case, even 

though the work was completed on July 19, 2022, the actual cost was 

only identified at the beginning of the year 2023 after the final bill was 

submitted and processed. The final payment was made in February 

2023. Therefore, the assets will be recorded in the Property, Plant, and 

Equipment category in the year 2023. 
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1.3  Other information included in the University's 2021 Annual Report  

    

1.4  Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with 

Governance for the Financial Statements  

   

1.5   Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

   

2.  Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

  

2.1   

2.1.1    
2.1.2    
2.1.3   
 
2.2  
2.2.1    
2.2.2   

(a) (i) The Explanation letters have been issued to the Heads of the relevant 

departments/ Units seeking clarifications for the loss occurred and further 

actions will be instituted based on the responses received from them. 

     (ii) 

Descripti

on 

Amount (Rs.) 

updated balance 

unclaimed 

deposits for more 

than two years as 

of 30.04.2023 

                             Status 

Retention 

- 

Contracto

rs 

12,880,307.04 After receiving notification from the 

finance division, the relevant departments 

have initiated communication with the 

respective supplier / service providers. 

Appropriate actions are being taken to 

transfer any unclaimed amounts 

outstanding for more than two years into 

the University Revenue 

Retention 

- 

Suppliers 

5,386,722.65 

Refundab

le 

Deposits 

265,000.00 
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(b)  The Monthly rental charges are recovered from the tenants residing at the 

Staff Quarters of the University as stated in the by law governing the 

allocation and maintenance of University quarters which was approved by 

the governing Council of the University. 

(c)  As a common practice, the arrival and departure of academic staff are not 

maintained in the State University System in Sri Lanka. Their roles are not 

limited to 08 working hours since the academic members engage in various 

teaching-learning, research and community outreach activities. Hence, this 

is not practical.    

(d)  As per Sub Clause 03(x) of the National Budget Circular No. 03/2022 issued 

on 26th April 2022, it has been stated that the loan facilities extended to staff 

grade officers under the Public Officers Advance Accounts will be 

suspended until the year-end. 

Entities providing loans under the Advance 'B' Account should submit 

estimates related to Public Officers Advance Accounts activities to the 

treasury in order to receive allocations. 

But, in the university system, no funds are received from Treasury 

operations specifically for granting loans to any employees including staff 

members. Instead, loans are provided to employees based on their 

recoveries during the specified period. Additionally, according to 

Commission Circular No. 606 dated 18th July 1994, the University Grants 

Commission has clarified that no additional funds will be allocated for the 

payment of Distress Loans. Hence, it is expected that these loans for 

university employees should be paid using the recoveries or internally 

generated funds. 

Given the aforementioned facts, we can confidently conclude that the 

restriction placed on the facility granted under the Public Officers Advance 

Account will not have any impact on the provision of loans to university 

employees in any manner. 

(e) As per the Establishment Circular No. 13/2015, Approval for Additional 

Fuel Consumption for the months from January 2022 to June 2022 had been 

forwarded to the UGC and they returned the documents to the University 

in October 2022. This matter had been discussed at the CVCD meeting and 

the recommendation of the CVCD has been forwarded to the UGC to revise 

the circular and a decision is still awaited. Further, approval for additional 

fuel consumption for the months from August 2022 to December 2022 has 
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been obtained from the Council. 

(f)  The UGC had provided 432 additional students for the intake of the 

Academic year 2019/ 2020 in line with the government policy to increase the 

enrolment of Universities enabling all students who passed the GCE 

Advanced level examination to pursue University Education. The same 

number of additional students got registered for the Academic year 

2020/2021 which commenced the academic studies in May/ June in most of 

the Faculties. Further, considering the potential high workload of the 

academic staff to manage with the academic activities of the increased intake, 

the Department of Management Services has granted approval to create 20 

new cadres for all six Faculties. 

Consequently, the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka advertised to fill the 

academic cadre vacancies on 22.11.2020 for the Faculty of Technology and on 

09.05.2021 for all other 5 Faculties. The advertisement was made well before 

the release of National Budget Circular Number 03/2022 dated 26.04.2022. 

The University made the appointments to relieve the academic staff from high 

workload of the increased student intake with the consent of the University 

Grants Commission.  

Consent from the University Grants Commission for the new appointments 

was obtained on 29.03.2022 (An email letter from the Chairman UGC – 
Annex - I). 

Further, the UGC had sent a letter (Annex – II) No. UGC/HR/2/3/1 dated 

14.02.2023 attaching the letter No. PMO/SEC/01/09 dated 05/12/2022 of 

the Secretary to the Prime Minister requesting to pay the urgent attention to 

the Cabinet decision dated 23.09.2022 made on Cabinet Paper 

No.22/1353/605/011 on Reviewing of Recruitment Process in the Public 

Service in view of the current economic challenges. Accordingly, UGC had 

requested the details of appointments made only after 23.09.2023. However, 

all the above said 18 appointments were made before the Cabinet decision 

dated 23.09.2022. 

2.2.3 

 

 

2.2.4 
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2.3 Other Matters  

 

(a)  CEDPL noted that the main delay occurred due to the time taken to 

complete the marking of answer scripts since the number of students in a 

batch is high. 

 

Therefore, we have implemented the panel marking and decided to release 

the results within a three-month time period. Actions have been taken to 

deduct the payment for late submission of results. 

 

Further, the following reasons delayed the completion of 2014/2015 and 

2015/2016 batches. 

 

           1.  Restrictions and situations arose due to Easter bomb blast. 

       2. Closure of university activities due to Covid19 pandemics and 

developing new procedure to conduct examination online and obtaining 

approval from the authorities and delays in sorting out of the exam papers 

for marking. 

 

(b) The details of the university research grant awarded to the academic staff 
from 01st January 2017 to 31 December 2022 are given below. 14 staff 
members completed their research project and submitted the final report and 
17 research projects are in progress. 

Year Faculty 

Number 

of 

officers 

Amount 

Granted Rs. 

Number of 

officers who 

had completed 

researches 

Current 

Status 

2017 
FE 

02 
198000 

01 
1 – completed 

1 - withdrawn FIA 253000 

2018 

FMC 

06 

101235 

06 6 - completed 
FAS 210000 

FAS 400000 

FAS 500000 
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FMC 200000 

FMC 50000 

2019 

FAS 

08 

402700 

05 

5 - completed 

2 – withdrawn 

1 – research in 

progress (date 

extended to 

31.12.2023) 

FE 590000 

FIA 505750 

FAS 495850 

FMC 290000 

FMC 300000 

FMC 260000 

FMC 100000 

2020 

FE 

04 

200000 

02 

2 – completed 

2 – research in 

progress (date 

extended to 

30.12.2023) 

FE 500000 

FE 489000 

FE 499950 

2021 

FAS 

11 

504440  

2 – withdrawn 

09 – research 

in progress 

FT 249300 

FT 994957 

FE 580000 

FAS 499800 

FMC 546000 

FMC 240000 

FT 980466 

FT 999913 

FAS 396461 
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FAS 497000 

2022 

FAS 

05 

500000  

05 – research 

in progress 

FAS 500000 

FAS 498191.87 

FT 496500 

FT 278800 

  

 

(c) The factors that have contributed to the delay in the execution of the project. 

At the time of awarding the contract, the world was grappling with the 

escalation of the Covid-19 pandemic. The subsequent consequences of this 

global crisis, including the closure of the country, travel restrictions, import 

limitations, shortages of materials and labor, and unexpected price hikes in 

construction materials, have collectively hindered the contractor's ability to 

commence works. 

Furthermore, the project's timeline has been further affected by the 

intermittent rainy seasons experienced since the project's inception. This has 

been another significant contributing factor to the delay in project progress. 

It has come to light that the contractor is currently grappling with an 

extremely challenging issue stemming from the exorbitant and 

unsustainable rise in the prices of raw materials. As a result, the contractor 

has formally expressed their request for the mutual termination of the 

contract. Subsequently, this matter was thoroughly deliberated upon by the 

project monitoring committee. This esteemed committee comprises notable 

members including the Vice Chancellor, the Dean of the Faculty of 

Technology, representatives from the user department (BST), the Acting 

Registrar, the Acting Bursar, and internal auditors. After careful 

consideration, the committee has finalized the decision for the mutual 

termination of the contract. The subsequent step entails initiating a re-

tendering process to ensure the project's successful continuation. 

 

(d) Upon reviewing the list of items mentioned in the query, we found that out of 

the 13 listed laboratory equipment; only two items such as Engine 

Dynamometer and Brake Test Machine have not yet been utilized. However, 
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all the remaining items are fully functioning and have been maintained in 

proper condition and used for intended purpose. 

The idling of the two aforementioned items was primarily caused by delays 

in the installation and demonstration process, which were beyond our 

control. These delays were due to the company responsible for the installation 

not being able to complete the tasks within the agreed-upon timeframe. It has 

been actively pursuing the completion of the installation, and it is now almost 

completed. 

Considering the progress made in the installation, it can be anticipated that 

the two idle items will be fully functional and ready for utilization from the 

next semester of this academic year. And, this will enhance the importance of 

utilizing the equipment effectively and maximizing their value for the 

Department of Mechanical Engineering. 

It is ensured that all equipment is functioning as intended. Stricter monitoring 
and oversight measures will be implemented to prevent such delays and 
idling situations in the future. 

 

 

 

Prof. A. Rameez 

Vice Chancellor 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

 

Cc: Senior Assistant Internal Auditor 
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Annexure 
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